
CITY OF GRAHAM 
AGENDA 

TUESDAY, AUGUST 4, 2015 
7:00 P.M. 

 

Meeting called to order by the Mayor 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  

 
1. Consent Agenda: 

a. Approval of Minutes – July 7, 2015 Regular Session. 
b. Tax Releases. 
c. Boards & Commissions Appointments. 

 
2. Requests and Petitions of Citizens: 

a. Graham Area Business Association to Discuss Purchase of Holiday Decorations 
b. Public Hearing: Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation on and Adjacent to 401 

Longdale Drive: 
i. Adoption of Annexation Ordinance. 

c. Public Hearing: Petition for Designation of Historic Landmark for Oneida Mills 
Property: 
i. Adoption of Historic Landmark Status 

 
3. Approve Engineering Contracts: 

a. Boyd Creek Pump Station 
b. Project Quarter Roadway 

 
4. Lease Agreement with T-Mobile 

 
5. Approve Piggyback Contract for Regenerative Air Street Sweeper 

 
6. Pet Adoption and Welfare Society (PAWS): 

a. Appoint Council Member to Serve on the Steering Committee 
 

7. Issues Not Included on Tonight’s Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 167



233 

 

CITY OF GRAHAM 
REGULAR SESSION 

TUESDAY, JULY 7, 2015 
7:00 P.M. 

 
The City Council of the City of Graham met in regular session at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, July 7, 2015, 
in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street. 
 
Council Members Present:   Also Present: 
Mayor Jerry Peterman    Frankie Maness, City Manager 
Mayor Pro Tem Jimmy Linens   Darcy Sperry, City Clerk  
Council Member Jim Albright   Nathan Page, City Planner 
Council Member Chip Turner    Michael Leinwand, Special Projects Coordinator 
Council Member Lee Kimrey   Melody Wiggins, Recreation & Parks Director  
      James Lloyd, Chief Code Enforcement Officer 
      Tanner Cook, City Intern 
 
Mayor Jerry Peterman called the meeting to order and presided at 7:00 p.m.  Council Member Chip 
Turner gave the invocation and everyone stood to recite the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Consent Agenda: 
a. Approval of Minutes – June 2, 2015 Regular Session. 
b. Approval of Minutes – June 30, 2015 Special Session. 
c. Tax Collector Year End Report. 
d. 2014 Outstanding Tax Listing. 
e. Request by the City of Graham Police Department to close the 100 block of West Elm St. 

on August 4, 2015 from 5:00pm-10:00pm for the National Night Out. 
 
Mayor Peterman asked the Council Members if they would like to pull any of the items from the 
Consent Agenda.  Mayor Peterman asked to pull item “a. Approval of Minutes - June 2, 2015 
Regular Session.”  Council Member Lee Kimrey asked to pull item “d. 2014 Outstanding Tax 
Listing.” 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Jimmy Linens made a motion to approve items “b”, “c” and “e” on the Consent 
Agenda, seconded by Council Member Jim Albright.  All voted in favor of the motion.  

 
Mayor Peterman informed Council that there had been a misspelling of his name in the June 2, 2015 
Regular Session Minutes and verified with City Clerk Darcy Sperry that the correction had been 
made. 
 
Mayor Peterman made a motion to approve item “a” on the Consent Agenda, seconded by Council 
Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Council Member Kimrey questioned City Manager Frankie Maness about the reason(s) as to why 
Bank of America would show up on the 2014 Outstanding Tax Listing.   

Page 2 of 167



234 

 

Mr. Maness stated that if he had to guess, it could be a property that they have foreclosed on or a 
property that has transitioned from one party to another and hasn’t been finalized.   
 
Council Member Kimrey made a motion to approve item “d” on the consent agenda, seconded by 
Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Requests and Petitions of Citizens 
a. Connect NC Bonds.   
Ms. Cheryl McQueary, Board Member of the North Carolina Board of Transportation gave a 
presentation to the Council on the Connect NC Bond Initiative with the hope of gaining support, in 
the form of a Resolution,  for the Highway Bond and the Infrastructure Bond to be put on the 
November 2015 Ballot.  She explained that the Resolution does not mean the Council Members are 
in favor or opposed to the Bonds, but rather that Council supports that the General Assembly give 
the citizens of North Carolina the right to vote on these Bonds. 
 
Ms. McQueary indicated that North Carolina has six (6) modes of transportation.  She identified 
those as Highway, Aviation, Bicycle & Pedestrian, Ferry, Public Transportation and Rail.  Ms. 
McQueary stated that two (2) years ago, the Governor, the General Assembly and the Department 
of Transportation created a new way to fund transportation projects.  She added that projects are 
divided into three (3) levels: State, Regional and Division.  In addition, she mentioned that North 
Carolina has the second largest highway system in the United States and highlighted the following 
facts: 

 

 

Page 3 of 167



235 

 

By consensus, the Council offered support of the Resolution presented.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 4 of 167



236 

 

b. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation on and Adjacent to 401 Longdale Drive. 
City Planner Nathan Page explained that this is an application by Mr. John L. Foust Sr. to annex a 
contiguous lot into the City of Graham.  The property is currently in the City’s Extra Territorial 
Jurisdiction (ETJ).  Mr. Page explained that this is the first step in the annexation process which 
would require approval of the following: 

iii. Approve Resolution requesting City Clerk to Investigate the Sufficiency. 
iv. Approve Resolution fixing date of Public Hearing on Question of Annexation. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Linens made the motion to approve the Resolution Directing the Clerk to 
Investigate a Petition Received Under G.S. 160A-31 for Property on and adjacent to 401 Longdale 
Drive, seconded by Council Member Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion.  
 

 
 

Page 5 of 167



237 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6 of 167



238 

 

Council Member Albright made the motion to approve the Resolution Fixing Date of Public 
Hearing on Question of Annexation Pursuant to G.S. 160A-31 for Property on and adjacent to 401 
Longdale Drive – the date being August 4, 2015, seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in 
favor of the motion. 

 

 

Page 7 of 167



239 

 

Capital Project Ordinance: Boyd Creek Pump Station: 
City Manager Frankie Maness explained that the Boyd Creek Pump Station has served the City well 
since 1959, but it is old and a risk to the City’s collection system.  He reminded Council that this 
project first came to the attention of the Council approximately two and one half (2 ½) years ago.  
Mr. Maness added that due to the design of the Station, it has become very difficult to maintain.  In 
an effort to get this project started, Mr. Maness is requesting $175,000 for preliminary engineering 
and surveying.  This money is proposed to come from the Water and Sewer Fund’s Fund Balance. 
 
Council Member Albright asked Mr. Maness if the $175,000 is included in the cost of the project or 
if it’s in addition to.  Mr. Maness stated that the $175,000 is included in the total cost. 
 
Mr. Tom Boney of the Alamance News asked Mr. Maness if this project was included in this year’s 
budget.  Mr. Maness answered no.  He added that when you have projects of this size that can go 
across fiscal years, the most appropriate thing you can do is adopt a Capital Project Budget.  
 
Being no further questions, Council Member Turner made the motion to approve the project budget 
ordinance for Boyd Creek Pump Station, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Linens.  All voted in favor of 
the motion.  

 
 

Page 8 of 167



240 

 

Capital Project Ordinance: Jim Minor Road Park: 
Mr. Maness explained that this is a request to appropriate funds for Phase 1 of the Jim Minor Road 
Park.  Mr. Maness added that the City acquired a 115.6 acre tract of property along Jim Minor Road 
in 2010 and another three (3) acre tract in 2014 for the purpose of constructing a park.  The City 
received financial assistance in the amount of $500,000 from the North Carolina Parks and 
Recreation Trust Fund in July 2011, which stipulated that the City begin development of the park by 
July 2016.  He added that the grant requires that the land be held in perpetuity as a public park.  As 
such, the City recorded restrictive covenants in 2012 to perpetually designate the property for public 
recreational use.  Mr. Maness went on to say that City Staff has developed three (3) options to begin 
development through a phased approach.  Phase 1 options seek to build passive recreation facilities 
and basic infrastructure.  Phase 1 options include: a park entrance, parking lot, natural playground, 
open mall area, fit zone and shelter with restrooms.  Mr. Maness advised that option B is the 
recommended approach. 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Melody Wiggins gave a brief overview of the three (3) different options 
proposed.  In addition to Parking/Drive/Trail Improvements by City Purchase and Forces, the 
options include the following:   
 
 Option A: Picnic Shelters, Walking Trails, Lawn, Fitness, Playground and Water/Sewer 

System - $1,645,000 
 Option B: Picnic Shelters, Walking Trails, Lawn, Fitness, Playground and Water/Sewer 

System - $850,000 
 Option C: Picnic Shelter, Nature Walking Trail and Water/Sewer System - $500,000 

 
Council Member Kimrey asked Ms. Wiggins what we have to have open to satisfy the grant 
requirements.  Ms. Wiggins stated that we have to have some facilities open.  She stated that this is 
the least expensive area of the park to develop.  Mayor Pro Tem Linens asked Ms. Wiggins what has 
been done to date with this property.  Ms. Wiggins explained that we have just completed the 
timbering.  She added that we have been working for months on the planning and design of the 
different areas of the park as well as the establishment of a non-profit organization called the 
Friends of the Graham Recreation and Parks.  Ms. Wiggins added that they will soon be releasing a 
gift catalogue to the public for those parties interested in purchasing items needed for the park. 
 
Mr. Boney asked Mr. Maness if this project was in this year’s budget.  Mr. Maness answered no and 
referred to the same reason he had given for the previously discussed Boyd Creek Pump Station. 
 
Council Members expressed their desire to have City Engineers Alley, Williams, Carmen & King 
look at which shelter makes the most sense to construct first.  Option B calls for the construction of 
shelter 1, however, Council noted that shelter 4 is in closer proximity to the proposed recreation 
areas. 
 
Being no further discussion, Council Member Turner made the motion to approve the project 
budget ordinance for Phase 1 of the Jim Minor Road Park, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Linens.  All 
voted in favor of the motion. 
 

Page 9 of 167



241 

 

 
 
Project Quarter: 
a. Resolution by the City Council of the City of Graham Authorizing Application to the 

NCDOC Infrastructure Grants Program. 
Mr. Maness explained that this is one of two (2) action items being requested for Project Quarter.  
He added that approval of the resolution finalizes the City’s grant application and helps pave the 
way for funding to support the construction of the roadway to serve Project Quarter and other 
properties within the North Carolina Commerce Park (NCCP).  Mr. Maness advised that the grant 
program is through the Economic Infrastructure Program of the North Carolina Department of 
Commerce, Rural Economic Development Division.  The grant will contribute $500,000 towards 
roadway construction in the NCCP. 

Page 10 of 167



242 

 

Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Maness how long we will have to maintain the road before 
NCDOT takes it over.  Mr. Maness advised that it’s either this grant or the Golden Leaf Grant that 
requires us to maintain the road for three (3) years before NCDOT takes it over. 
 
Being no further questions, Council Member Kimrey made the motion to approve the Resolution by 
the City Council of the City of Graham Authorizing Application to the NCDOC Infrastructure 
Grants Program, seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion.  
 

 
 

Page 11 of 167



243 

 

b. Capital Project Ordinance. 
Mr. Maness explained the Project Quarter incentive package calls for the NCCP partners to 
construct a roadway to serve Project Quarter and other properties within the NCCP.  He informed 
Council that the estimated cost for the roadway project is $2,000,000.  Grant funding from the 
Golden Leaf ($250,000) and the NCDOC Rural Economic Development Division ($500,000) will 
be used towards the project leaving the three (3) local governments to share the $1,250,000 balance 
($416,667 each). 
 
Council Member Albright made the motion to approve the project budget ordinance for Project 
Quarter, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Linens.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Page 12 of 167



244 

 

Resolution by the City Council of the City of Graham Authorizing Application 
to the NCDOC Rural Economic Development Division Building Reuse Grant 
Program for Rural Health Care. 
Mr. Maness explained that this is a request to approve the Resolution by the City Council of the City 
Of Graham Authorizing Application to the NCDOC Rural Economic Development Division 
Building Reuse Grant Program for Rural Health Care.  

Mr. Maness added that the City of Graham is eligible to solicit grant funding through the Building 
Reuse Program under the Rural Grants/Programs Section of the North Carolina Department of 
Commerce to assist in the development of health care related jobs.  He added that the Peak 
Resources project will invest ten million ($10,000,000) dollars in Graham and will create forty (40) 
new jobs.  Mr. Maness stated that this is an opportunity for the City to be a conduit to assist Peak 
Resources in their building.  As part of their project, the City will see some sidewalk infrastructure as 
well as stormwater infrastructure that currently doesn’t exist.  Mr. Maness advised that Peak 
Resources has agreed to provide the required matching funds for the grant.  The anticipated amount 
of the grant is four hundred thousand ($400,000) dollars. 

Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Maness about the cash match.  Mr. Maness explained that it’s a 
five (5) percent match where the City will act as the responsible agency.  He added that Peak 
Resources will pay either the City or the five (5) percent match for the project. 

Mr. Skip Green, 123 Wingate Drive Clayton, NC, spoke on behalf of the project.  He gave a brief 
overview of the Building Reuse Program.  He added that with this project there will be no cost to 
the City as Peak Resources has agreed to pay for administrative costs incurred. 

Mr. Boney asked what the benefit to the City was.  Mayor Peterman answered that eventually the 
stormwater, hydrants and utilities will be deeded to the City.  He added that the City is doing the 
paperwork because Peak Resources needs to have a municipality act as the conduit for this grant 
which will help Peak Resources cut their costs a little. 

Council Member Turner made a motion to approve the Resolution by the City Council of the City 
of Graham Authorizing Application to the NCDOC Rural Economic Development Division 
Building Reuse Grant Program for Rural Health Care, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Linens.  All 
voted in favor of the motion.   

Page 13 of 167



245 

 

 
 

Page 14 of 167



246 

 

Issues Not Included on Tonight’s Agenda 
Mayor Peterman advised that he was moving this item up on the agenda prior to Council going into 
Closed Session.  No comments were forthcoming. 
 
 
Closed Session Pursuant to the Terms of N.C.G.S. §. 143-318-11 (a) (6): to 
consider the performance of the City Manager and City Attorney. 
At 8:29 p.m. Mayor Pro Tem Linens made a motion to go into closed session to consider the 
performance of the City Manager and City Attorney pursuant to N.C.G.S. 143-318-11 (a) (6), 
seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

At 9:53 p.m. Mayor Peterman reconvened the regular session.  Mayor Peterman explained that the 
Council Members discussed City Attorney Keith Whited’s performance and advised that Council 
and Mr. Maness feel Mr. Whited’s job performance is very good.  Mayor Peterman added that they 
would like to continue to retain Mr. Whited at his current rate of one hundred seventy-five ($175) 
dollars per hour. 

Mayor Peterman also explained that Council had discussed Mr. Maness’ job performance and 
believe that this has been an exceptional year for the City of Graham and Mr. Maness has been a 
driving force to accomplish this.  He added that they would like to congratulate him on a job well 
done but with the policy of pay raises as it currently stands, his salary will remain the same. 

At 9:56 p.m. Council Member Turner made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Council Member 
Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 

 
_____________________________ 

      Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 
 

Page 15 of 167



Page 16 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\Boards & Commissions\Staff Report for Council Agenda ‐ new members to hall of fame 7 27 15.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  RECOMMENDATION  OF  NEW  SPORTS  HALL  OF  FAME  MEMBERS 

PREPARED  BY:  MELODY  L.  WIGGINS,  CPRP  

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 

The Graham Recreation and Parks Commission recommends the approval of Nolan Myrick, John Harrington and 

Matt Linens to the Graham Sports Hall of Fame for six year terms that will expire on 6‐30‐2021. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Every two years the Sports Hall of Fame Committee has to replace three members whose terms expire. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION: 

Appoint Nolan Myrick, John Harrington and Matt Linens to the Graham Sports Hall of Fame Committee. 

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S): 

I  MAKE A MOTION TO APPOINT NOLAN MYRICK, JOHN HARRINGTON AND MATT LINENS TO THE GRAHAM SPORTS HALL OF FAME 

COMMITTEE FOR A SIX YEAR TERM EXPIRING ON JUNE 30, 2021. 

 

Page 17 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\AN1503‐401LongdaleDr\1_Staff Report #2 AN1503.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  ANNEXATION  OF  PROPERTY  ON  AND  ADJACENT  TO  401  LONGDALE  DRIVE 

PREPARED  BY:  NATHAN  PAGE,  CITY  PLANNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Annexation Ordinance to Extend the Corporate 

Limits of the City of Graham, North Carolina for Property on and      

adjacent to 401 Longdale Drive. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The attached petition seeks the Council’s approval for an 

extension of the corporate limits to include the subject 

property. The area being considered for annexation is the 

parcel located on and adjacent to 401 Longdale Drive (0.615 

acres). 

The annexation process has multiple steps. Following a public 

hearing, approval of an Annexation Ordinance is the final step 

for Council in the annexation process. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact of this annexation is negligible. The area has city water and sewer available. 

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  Annexation of the subject property will afford the property access to City services without requiring the City to 

extend services. 

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the Annexation Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Graham, North Carolina for 

Property on and adjacent to 401 Longdale Drive.

Page 18 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\AN1503‐401LongdaleDr\1_Staff Report #2 AN1503.docx 

ANNEXATION	ORDINANCE	

TO	EXTEND	THE	CORPORATE	LIMITS	
OF	THE	

CITY	OF	GRAHAM,	NORTH	CAROLINA	
FOR	PROPERTY	ON	AND	ADJACENT	TO	401	Longdale	Drive	

  WHEREAS, the Graham City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A‐31 to annex the area described below; 

and  

WHEREAS, the Graham City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to  investigate the sufficiency of the 

petition; and  

WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing on the question of this 

annexation was held  at City Hall, 201  South Main  Street, Graham  at 7:00 P.M. on August 4, 2015,  after due notice by 

publication on July 23rd, 2015; and 

WHEREAS, the Graham City Council finds that the petition meets the requirements of G.S. 160A‐31;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina that:  

Section 1.  By virtue of  the authority granted by G.S. 160A‐31,  the  following described  territory  is hereby 

annexed and made part of the City of Graham as of August 31, 2015: 

A certain tract or parcel of land in Graham Township, Alamance County, North Carolina, adjoining the 

lands of Longdale Drive, Lot No. 4 of Property of J. L. Foust, recorded in Plat Book 69, at Page 119, Lot 

Nos. 1 and 7 of Property of J. L. Foust, recorded in Plat Book 75, at Page 492 and others, and more 

particularly described as follows: 

BEGINNING at an existing iron pipe corner between Lot No. 1 of Property of J. L. Foust, recorded in Plat 

Book No. 75, at Page 492 and Lot No. 4 of Property of J. L. Foust, recorded in Plat Book 69, at Page 119, 

and the existing City of Graham corporate limits line, running thence with the southeastern line of Lot 

No. 1, N36° 03’ 13”E 180.00 feet to an existing iron pipe in the line of said Lot No. 1 and corner with Lot 

No. 7 of Property of J. L. Foust, recorded in Plat Book 75, at Page 492, and corner with the existing City 

of Graham corporate limits line; running thence along the said Lot No. 7 and existing City of Graham 

corporate limits line S48° 15’ 00”E 156.86 feet to an existing iron pipe in the northwestern 50 foot 

right‐of‐way line of Longdale Drive; continuing along said existing City of Graham corporate limits line 

and the said right‐of‐way line of Longdale Drive S38° 08’ 18”W 170.00 feet to an existing iron pipe 

corner with Lot No. 4 of Property of J. L. Foust, recorded in Plat Book 69, at Page 119; continuing along 

said existing City of Graham corporate limits line and Lot No. 4, N51° 51’ 42”W 150.00 feet to the 

POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 26,798 square feet. 

 

 

Page 19 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\AN1503‐401LongdaleDr\1_Staff Report #2 AN1503.docx 

Section 2.  Upon and after August 31, 2015, the above‐described territory and its citizens and property shall 

be subject to all debts, laws, ordinances and regulations in force in the City of Graham and shall be entitled to the same 

privileges and benefits as other parts of the City of Graham. Said territory shall be subject to municipal taxes according to 

G.S. 160A‐58.10.   

Section 3.  The Mayor of the City of Graham shall cause to be recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds 

of Alamance County, and in the office of the Secretary of State at Raleigh, North Carolina, an accurate map of the annexed 

territory described in Section 1 above, together with a duly certified copy of this Ordinance. Such a map shall also be 

delivered to the Alamance County Board of Elections, as required by G.S. 163‐288.1.   

Adopted this, the 4th day of August, 2015. 

       

   Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

       

Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk    Keith Whited, City Attorney 

 

Page 20 of 167



Page 21 of 167



Page 22 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\HL1501‐Onieda Mills\1_Staff Report HL1501.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  ADOPTION  OF  HISTORIC  LANDMARK:  ONEIDA MILLS 

PREPARED  BY:  NATHAN  PAGE,  CITY  PLANNER 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Pumpkin Hill Mill, LLC application to declare 

Oneida Mill as a Local Historic Landmark. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The attached petition seeks the Council’s approval as a 

Local Historic Landmark for the Oneida Mill property, 

first construction having occurred in 1882. 

The Historic Landmark designation process has two 

steps; adoption by council following a positive 

recommendation from HRC is the last of these. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact of this adoption is negligible. The area 

has city water and sewer available. 

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  Adoption of the subject property will afford the Historic Resources Commission oversight to all exterior changes 

which will take place on the property. 

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S): 

I move we adopt the Oneida Mill Property located at 219 W Harden Street as a Local Historic Landmark. 

Page 23 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\HL1501‐Onieda Mills\1_Staff Report HL1501.docx 

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING ONEIDA COTTON MILLS IN THE PLANNING JURISDICTION OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH 

CAROLINA, A HISTORIC LANDMARK 

WHEREAS, the property located at 219 West Harden Street, Graham NC, is owned by Jay Burke Rentals INC; and 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly of the State of North Carolina authorized the creation of the Graham Historic Resources 

Commission for the City of Graham and otherwise provided for the preservation of certain historic sites and buildings by the 

passage of Part 3C, Chapter 160A, Article 19 of the North Carolina General Statues; and 

WHEREAS, the Graham Historic Resources Commission has made an investigation and recommended the following 

property be designated a historic landmark; and 

WHEREAS, the National Park Service has declared the Oneida Cotton Mills as entered in the National Register; and 

WHEREAS, the North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources has made an analysis and recommendation that the 

following property be designated a historic landmark; and 

 WHEREAS, on  the 4th day of August, 2015 a public hearing was held  in  the Council Chamber of Graham City Hall, 

Graham, North Carolina before the City Council of the City of Graham to determine whether the hereinafter described 

property should be designated a historic landmark; and 

WHEREAS, all requirements of Part 3C, Chapter 160A, Article 19 of the North Carolina General Statutes, preceding the 

adoption of this ordinance, have been complied with. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA THAT: 

Section 1.  The property designated as Oneida Cotton Mills, in the planning jurisdiction of the City of Graham, North 

Carolina, be and is declared a Graham Historic Landmark. Said property being more particularly described as follows: 

The property located at 219 West Harden Street, Graham NC, owned by Jay Burke Rentals, INC, that property 

described in deed book 2722, page 613 recorded in Alamance County Registry, comprising approximately 6.843 

acres. 

Section 2. Those elements of the property that are integral to its historical, prehistorical, architectural, archeological and/or 

cultural significance or any combination thereof are as follows: 

The Oneida Cotton Mill is an intact collection of late nineteenth and early twentieth century industrial buildings. The 

floor plan, rectangular footprint, brick construction, heavy‐timber interior framing, and flat and low gable roofs at the 

complex epitomize the types and forms of industrial buildings constructed in the Piedmont of North Carolina during 

this period. The Hold Mill, Scott and Donnell Mill, and the Opener Room buildings in the complex all display the 

principles of slow‐burn construction that was common for textile mills of the late nineteenth and early twentieth 

centuries. Most notably among these was building material, positioning of large‐capacity water tanks in the towers, 

heavy‐timber framing, large windows for ventilation and light, and the creation of space separate from the main mill 

floor for activities that could lead to fires. These features remain prominent in Oneida Cotton Mill. The recent removal 

of vertical metal siding and simulated masonry siding reveals a collection of industrial buildings that clearly 

demonstrate the use of slow‐burn construction. Although windows on the Hold Mill have been infilled, some on the 

Scott and Donnell Mill building and the Opener Room retain their historic sash and did so because of the siding that 

was applied to the buildings in the late 1950s. All windows retain their decorative brick surrounds, mostly in the form 

of segmental arches. The square towers on the Scott and Donnell Mill and Holt Mill buildings have been truncated, but 

Page 24 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\HL1501‐Onieda Mills\1_Staff Report HL1501.docx 

the iconic southeast corner round tower remains in its original form, except for the enclosure of the bays. The 

additions made to buildings over time illustrate the expansion of the companies located here and the evolution of 

industrial processes over a nearly eighty‐year period. 

Section 3. No portion of the exterior features of any building, site, structure, or object (including windows, walls, fences, 

light fixtures, steps, pavement, paths, or any other appurtenant features), trees, nor above ground utility structure located 

on the hereinbefore described property that is designated in the ordinance may be altered, restored, moved, remodeled, or 

reconstructed so that a change in design, material or outer appearance occurs unless and until a certificate of 

appropriateness is obtained from the Graham Historic Resources Commission or its successors; provided however that the 

Graham Development Ordinance allows for staff approvals. 

Section 4. No building, site, structure, or object (including walls, fences, light fixtures, steps, pavement, paths or any other 

appurtenant features), trees, nor above ground utility structure located on the hereinbefore described property that is 

designated in this ordinance may be demolished unless and until either approval of a demolition is obtained from the 

Graham Historic Resources Commission or a period of three hundred sixty‐five (365) days has elapsed following final review 

by the Commission of a request for demolition (or any longer period of time required by N.C. G.S. 160A‐400.14 as it may be 

amended hereafter); provided however, that demolition may be denied by the Graham Historic Resources Commission in 

the event that the State Historic Preservation Officer determines that the building, site, or structure has statewide 

significance as provided by N.C. G. S. 160A‐400.14. 

Section 5. The Graham Historic Resources Commission shall have no jurisdiction over the interior features of the property. 

Section 6. All owners and occupants of the property hereinabove described, whose identity and addresses can be 

ascertained by the exercise of due diligence shall be sent by certified mail a copy of this ordinance. 

Section 7. This ordinance shall be indexed after the property owner’s name in the grantor and grantee indexes in the Office 

of the Register of Deeds in Alamance County. 

Section 8. In the event the Oneida Cotton Mills complex designated by this ordinance is demolished in accordance with the 

ordinances of the City of Graham, this ordinance shall be automatically null and void. 

Section 9. Any violation of this ordinance shall be unlawful as by law provided.  

Adopted this, the 4th day of August, 2015 by the City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina. 

Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

Page 25 of 167



Page 26 of 167



Page 27 of 167



Page 28 of 167



Page 29 of 167



Page 30 of 167



Page 31 of 167



Page 32 of 167



Page 33 of 167



Page 34 of 167



Page 35 of 167



Page 36 of 167



Page 37 of 167



Page 38 of 167



Page 39 of 167



Page 40 of 167



Page 41 of 167



Page 42 of 167



Page 43 of 167



Page 44 of 167



Page 45 of 167



Page 46 of 167



Page 47 of 167



Page 48 of 167



Page 49 of 167



Page 50 of 167



                                                                                            75  
        

 

HISTORIC RESOURCES COMMISSION 
Tuesday, July 14, 2015 

 
The Historic Resources Commission held a called meeting on Tuesday July 14, 2015 at 6:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers of the Graham Municipal Building.  Commission Members present were Larry Brooks, Brenda 
Sykes, Helen Sharpe, Grace Baldwin, Lauren Nance, and Cary Worthy. Member absent was Denise Baker. 
Staff members present were Nathan Page, City Planner and Martha Johnson, Zoning/Inspections Technician. 
 
Larry Brooks called the meeting to order and explained the function of the Commission. 

1. Approve minutes of the May 12, 2015 meeting. Helen Sharpe made a motion for approval, second by Grace 
Baldwin. All voted aye. 

2.  Court Square Historic District Façade Grant 2014-2015 Update and initiation of 2015-2016 applications. 
Nathan Page discussed last year’s grants. All the grants were finished on time with the exception of the 
Graham Cinema, Barrister’s Café and Court Florist signs, as well as the awnings for the Graham Soda Shop 
and they filed for an extension and they were able to finish within the extended time. There was a total of 
$10,000 awarded by the Commission and the City Council has budgeted for another $10,000 for this year. 

3. Oneida Mill Local Historic Landmark. Request by Pumpkin Hill Mill, LLC for a designation of the Oneida 
Mill located at 219 West Harden Street as a Local Historic Landmark. Mr. Page said North Carolina 
Department of Cultural Resources has recommended that we adopt it as a historic landmark. Helen Sharpe 
made a motion for approval, second by Grace Baldwin. All voted aye.  

4. Perfect Part (COA1502). Request by Shannon Carver for a Certificate of Appropriateness to reface existing 
signage, add a new vinyl window sign, and repaint an existing metal awning at 12 NE Court Square. 
Shannon Carver spoke representing Perfect Hair Salon located at 12 NE Court Square. Ms. Carver stated she 
would like to put vinyl white lettering inside the window, paint the awning, the door and get a new sign. The 
logo on the window is a silhouette with long hair that is a side profile of the face. Cary Worthy made a 
motion for approval, second by Brenda Sykes. All voted aye. 

Mr. Brooks stated there were a lot of people present that have spoken to some of the Board members about 
extending the Historical District on N Main Street. The Board has requested that someone from the State 
Preservation office come in to give a seminar to the Board and possibly to the people from that area. Mr. 
Brooks said that today we are postponing any discussion on that until someone comes in. He stated that the 
commission cannot do anything themselves, we can only recommend one way or the other to the City and we 
can listen to what people have to say. Mr. Page can let us know when that meeting will be and we can invite 
people to attend. 

Tonya Smith is getting ready to rent the auto shop located at 100 E Harden St. Ms. Smith stated with it being 
such an old building that some paint was peeling. Ms. Smith said they would be “sprucing it up”, but they 
would  not be doing an extravagant restoration, she wasn’t sure what changes they would be allowed to do. Mr. 
Page said she came in after the deadline for the Certificate of Appropriateness for this meeting and he suggested 
to her to talk with the Commission. There was some discussion concerning the lights on top of that building 
which she would like to restore. Cary Worthy said those were Christmas lights that several years ago all the 
downtown stores were lined with those lights during the Christmas season but he wasn’t sure if they could be 
used at other times of the year and Mr. Page wasn’t sure either. Ms. Smith thanked the Commission and said 
she would fill out the application and find out what she would be able to do. 

 

Page 51 of 167



76 

 

 
 
With no further business the meeting was adjourned.   
 
 

Respectfully Submitted,  
Martha Johnson 

Page 52 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\Engineering Contracts\Project Quarter Roadway\Staff Report Project Quarter Engineering contract.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  ENGINEERING CONTRACTS 

PREPARED  BY:  FRANKIE  MANESS,  CITY  MANAGER  

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Award Engineering Contract for Melville Commerce Parkway Extension and Boyd Pump Station Project. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The City is required to engage in a qualification process to select an engineering firm for projects of this size as opposed to 

using the standing engineering contract we have with AWCK.  The time frame for the projects (particularly the Melville 

Commerce Parkway Extension) requires that engineering services begin as soon as possible. The City received a single 

response for each project from AWCK.  Other interest was shown but a formal submittal was not received. (The park project 

was also a part of the RFQ process but staff is still reviewing respondent letters of interest and will make a recommendation 

at a later date). 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The estimated cost for the MCP extension is $235,000 and the cost for the pump station projects is estimated to be 335,000 

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  AWCK is most familiar with the two projects and has successfully completed similar projects in the past.  

Although they were not contracted through the City, they served as the engineers for the first section of the roadway.  

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S): 

I move we award the engineering contracts for Melville Commerce Parkway Extension and the Boyd Creek Pump Station 

Projects to Alley, Williams, Carmen & King.   

Page 53 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 1 of 14 

STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

OWNER AND ENGINEER FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA COUNTY OF ALAMANCE 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this        day of                      , 2015, by and 
between the City of Graham, a North Carolina Municipal Corporation (hereinafter called the 
"OWNER") and Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc., a North Carolina Corporation located in 
Burlington, North Carolina (hereinafter called the "ENGINEER"). 

WHEREAS, the OWNER intends to secure engineering services related to the design 
and construction of Sewer Improvements that include the Replacement of Boyd Creek 
Sanitary Sewer Lift Station estimated at $2.0 million and the Upgrade of Boyd Creek No. 2 
Sanitary Sewer Lift Station estimated at $500,000; hereinafter referred to as the Project, and 

WHEREAS, the OWNER and ENGINEER in consideration of their mutual covenants, 
herein agree in respect of the performance of professional engineering services by ENGINEER 
and the payment for those services by OWNER as set forth below. 

SECTION 1 - BASIC SERVICES OF ENGINEER 

1.1. General 

1.1.1. ENGINEER shall provide for OWNER professional engineering services in all phases of 
the Project to which this Agreement applies as hereinafter provided. These services will 
include serving as OWNER's professional engineering representative for the Project, 
providing professional engineering consultation and advice and furnishing customary 
civil, structural, mechanical and electrical engineering services and customary 
architectural services incidental thereto. 

1.2. Final Design Phase. 

1.2.1. On the basis of the accepted previously prepared preliminary design documents 
(attached exhibit A.) and the opinion of probable total project costs (attached exhibit B), 
prepare for the incorporation in the Contract Documents final drawings to show the 
general scope, extent and character of the work to be furnished and performed by 
Contractor(s) (hereinafter call "Drawings") and specifications. 

1.2.2. Provide technical criteria, written descriptions and design data for OWNER's use in filing 
applications for permits with or obtaining approvals of such governmental authorities as 
have jurisdiction to approve the design of the Project, and assist OWNER in 
consultations with appropriate authorities and to assist in the preparation of grant or loan 
applications when requested by the Owner. 

1.2.3. Advise OWNER of any adjustments to the latest opinion of probable Total Project Costs 
caused by changes in general scope, extent or character or design requirements of the 
Project or Construction Costs. Furnish to OWNER a revised opinion of probable Total 
Project Costs based on the Drawings and Specifications. 

Page 54 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 2 of 14 

1.2.4. Prepare for review and approval by OWNER, its legal counsel and other advisors 
contract agreement forms, general conditions and supplementary conditions and (where 
appropriate) bid forms, invitations to bid and instructions to bidders and assist in the 
preparation of other related documents. 

1.2.5. Furnish copies of the above documents, the Drawings and Specifications and present 
and review them in person with OWNER or representative. 

1.2.6. Aid the OWNER in obtaining all necessary permits from N.C. Department of 
Environment and Natural Resources. 

1.2.7. Develop an Erosion Control Plan and aid the OWNER in obtaining the Sedimentation 
and Erosion Control Permit from N.C. Dept. of Environment and Natural Resources. 

1.2.8. Furnish sewer easement maps for recording (if needed), including all surveying and 
design relating thereto. Assist owner in acquiring easements (if needed) as directed by 
Owner. 

1.2.9. Advise OWNER if additional data or services are necessary and assist the OWNER in 
obtaining such data or services. This may include the identification of regulatory 
wetlands, the preparation of environmental permits, and the preparation of storm water 
permits. 

1.3. Bidding or Negotiating Phase. 

1.3.1. Assist OWNER in advertising for and obtaining bids or negotiating proposals for each 
separate prime contract for construction, materials, equipment and services; and, where 
applicable, maintain a record of prospective bidders to whom Bidding Documents have 
been issued, attend pre-bid conferences and receive and process deposits for Bidding 
Documents. 

1.3.2. Issue addenda as appropriate to interpret, clarify or expand the Bidding Documents. 

1.3.3. Consult with and advise OWNER as to the acceptability of subcontractors, suppliers and 
other persons and organizations proposed by the prime contractor(s) (hereinafter called 
"Contractor(s)") for those portions of the work as to which such acceptability is required 
by the Bidding Documents. 

1.3.4. Consult with OWNER concerning and determine the acceptability of substitute materials 
and equipment proposed by Contractor(s) when substitution prior to the award of 
contracts is allowed by the Bidding Documents. 

1.3.5. Attend the bid opening, prepare bid tabulation sheets and assist OWNER in evaluating 
bids or proposals and in assembling and awarding contracts for construction, materials, 
equipment and services. 

1.4. Construction Phase (During the Construction Phase). 

1.4.1. General Administration of Construction Contract. ENGINEER shall consult with and 
advise OWNER and act as OWNER's representative as provided in the Standard 
General Conditions. The extent and limitations of the duties, responsibilities and 
authority of ENGINEER as assigned in said Standard General Conditions shall not be 
modified, except as ENGINEER may otherwise agree in writing. All of OWNER's 

Page 55 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 3 of 14 

instructions to Contractor(s) will be issued through ENGINEER who will have authority to 
act on behalf of OWNER to the extent provided in said Standard General Conditions 
except as otherwise provided in writing. 

1.4.2. Visits to Site and Observation of Construction. In connection with observations of the 
work of Contractor(s) while work is in progress. 

1.4.2.1. ENGINEER shall make visits to the site at intervals appropriate to the various 
stages of construction as ENGINEER deems necessary in order to observe as an 
experienced and qualified design professional the progress and quality of the various 
aspects of Contractor(s) work. In addition, ENGINEER shall provide the services of an 
Inspector (and assistants as agreed) at the site to assist ENGINEER and to provide 
necessary observation of such work. Based on information obtained during such visits 
and on such observations, ENGINEER shall endeavor to determine in general if such 
work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents and ENGINEER shall 
keep OWNER informed of the progress of the work. 

1.4.2.2. The Inspector (and any assistants) will be ENGINEER'S agent or employee and 
under ENGINEER'S supervision. 

1.4.2.3. The purpose of ENGINEER's visits to and representation by the Inspector (and 
assistants, if any) at the site will be to enable ENGINEER to determine if the Contractor’s 
work is in substantial compliance with the Contract Documents. On the other hand, 
ENGINEER shall not, during such visits or as a result of such observations of 
Contractor(s)' work have authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures of construction selected by Contractor(s) to 
comply with laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes or orders applicable to 
Contractor(s) nor assume responsibility for Contractor(s)' failure to furnish and perform 
their work in accordance with the Contract documents. 

1.4.3. Defective Work. During such visits and on the basis of such observations, ENGINEER 
may disapprove of or reject Contractor(s)' work while it is in progress if ENGINEER 
believes that such work will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the 
Contract Documents or that the defective work will prejudice the integrity of the design 
concept of the Project as reflected in the Contract Documents. 

1.4.4. Interpretations and Clarifications. ENGINEER shall issue necessary interpretations and 
clarifications of the Contract Documents and in connection therewith prepare work 
directive changes and change orders as required. 

1.4.5. Shop Drawings. ENGINEER shall review and approve (or take other appropriate action 
in respect of) Shop Drawings (as that term is defined in the aforesaid Standard General 
Conditions), samples and other data which Contractor(s) are required to submit, but only 
for conformance with the design concept of the reviews and approvals or other action 
shall not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of 
construction or to safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

1.4.6. Substitutes. ENGINEER shall evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute 
materials and equipment proposed by Contractor(s), but subject to the provision of 
paragraph 2.2.2. 

1.4.6.1. Inspections and Tests. ENGINEER shall have authority, as OWNER's 
representative, to require special inspection or testing of the work, and shall receive and 

Page 56 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 4 of 14 

review all certificates of inspections, testing, and approvals required by laws, rules, 
regulations, ordinances, codes, orders or the Contract Documents (but only to determine 
that their content complies with the requirements of, and the results certified indicate 
compliance with, the Contract Documents.) 

1.4.6.2. Disputes between OWNER and Contractor. ENGINEER shall act as initial 
interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and judge of the acceptability 
of the work thereunder and make decisions on all claims of OWNER and Contractor(s) 
relating to the acceptability of the work or the interpretation of the requirements of the 
Contract Documents pertaining to the execution and progress of the work. ENGINEER 
shall not be liable for the results of any such interpretations or decisions rendered in 
good faith. 

1.4.6.3. Applications for Payment. Based on ENGINEER's on-site observations as an 
experienced and qualified design professional, on information provided by the Inspector 
and on review of applications for payment and the accompanying data and schedules: 

1.4.6.4. ENGINEER shall determine the amounts owing to Contractor(s) and recommend 
in writing payments to Contractor(s) in such amounts. Such recommendations of 
payment will constitute a representation to OWNER, based on such observations and 
review, that the work has progressed to the point indicated, and that, to the best of the 
ENGINEER's knowledge, information and belief, the quality of such work is in 
accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of such work as a 
functioning whole prior to or upon the Contract Documents and to any other 
qualifications stated in the recommendation). In the case of unit price work, 
ENGINEER's recommendations of payment will include final determinations of quantities 
and classifications of such work (subject to any subsequent adjustments allowed by the 
Contract Documents). 

1.4.6.5. By recommending any payment ENGINEER will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that exhaustive, continuous or detailed reviews or examinations have been 
made by ENGINEER to check the quality or quantity of Contractor(s)' work as it is 
furnished and performed beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to ENGINEER 
in this Agreement and the Contract Documents. ENGINEER's review of Contractor(s)' 
work for the purposes of recommending payments will not impose on ENGINEER 
responsibility to supervise, direct or control such work or for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto or Contractor(s)' compliance with laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, 
codes or orders applicable to their furnishing and performing the work. It will also not 
impose responsibility of ENGINEER to make any examination to ascertain how or for 
what purposes any Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract 
Price, or to determine that title to any of the work, materials or equipment has passed to 
OWNER free and clear of any lien, claims, security interests or encumbrances, or that 
there may not be other matters at issue between OWNER and CONTRACTOR that 
might affect the amount that should be paid. 

1.4.7. Contractor(s)' Completion Documents. ENGINEER shall receive and review 
maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds and certificates 
of inspection, tests and approvals which are to be assembled by Contractor(s)' in 
accordance with the Contract Documents (but such review will only be to determine that 
their content complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of 

Page 57 of 167



 

Owner and Engineer Agreement  Page 5 of 14 

inspection, tests and approvals the results certified indicate compliance with, the 
Contract Documents(s); and shall transmit them to OWNER with written comments. 

1.4.8. Inspections. ENGINEER shall conduct an inspection to determine if the work is 
substantially complete and a final inspection to determine if the completed work is 
acceptable so that ENGINEER may recommend, in writing, final payment to 
Contractor(s)' and may give written notice to OWNER and the Contractor(s)' that the 
work is acceptable (subject to any conditions therein expressed), but any such 
recommendation and notice will be subject to the limitations expressed in paragraph 
1.4.6.5. 

1.4.9. Limitation of Responsibilities. ENGINEER shall not be responsible for the acts or 
omissions of any Contractor, or of any subcontractor or supplier, or any of the 
Contractor(s)' or subcontractor(s)' or supplier(s)' agents or employees or any other 
persons (except ENGINEER's own employees and agents) at the site or otherwise 
furnishing or performing any of the Contractor(s)' work; however, nothing contained in 
paragraphs 1.4.1 through 1.4.8 inclusive, shall be construed to release ENGINEER from 
liability for failure to properly perform duties and responsibilities assumed by ENGINEER 
in the Contract Documents. 

1.4.10. Construction Staking. Engineer shall provide construction staking. 

1.5. Operational Phase. 

During the Operational Phase, ENGINEER shall, when requested by OWNER: 

1.5.1. Provide assistance in the closing of any financial or related transaction for the Project. 

1.5.2. Provide assistance in connection with the refining and adjusting of any equipment or 
system. 

1.5.3. Prepare a set of reproducible record prints of Drawings showing those changes made 
during the construction process, based on the marked-up prints, drawings and other 
data furnished by Contractor(s)' to ENGINEER and which ENGINEER considers 
significant. 

1.5.4. In company with OWNER, visit the Project to observe any apparent defects in the 
completed construction, assist OWNER in consultations and discussions with 
Contractor(s)' concerning correction of such deficiencies, and make recommendations 
as to replacement or correction of defective work. 

SECTION 2 - ADDITIONAL SERVICES OF ENGINEER 

2.1 Services Requiring Authorization in Advance. 

If authorized in writing by OWNER, ENGINEER shall furnish or obtain from others 
Additional Services of the types listed in paragraphs 2.1.1. through 2.1.12., inclusive. 
These services are not included as part of Basic Services and these will be paid for by 
OWNER as indicated in Section 5. 

2.1.1. Preparation or review of environmental assessments and impact statements; review and 
evaluation of the effect on the design requirements of the Project of any such statements 

Page 58 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 6 of 14 

and documents prepared by others; and assistance in obtaining approvals of authorities 
having jurisdiction over the anticipated environmental impact of the Project. 

2.1.2. Services to make measured drawings of or to investigate existing conditions or facilities, 
or to verify the accuracy of drawings or other information furnished by OWNER. 

2.1.3. Services resulting from significant changes in the general scope, extent or character of 
the Project or its design including, but not limited to, changes in size, complexity, 
OWNER's schedule, character of construction or method of financing; and revising 
previously accepted studies, reports, design documents or Contract Documents when 
such revisions are required by changes in laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes 
enacted subsequent to the preparation of such studies, reports or documents, or are due 
to any other causes beyond ENGINEER's control. 

2.1.4. Providing renderings or models for OWNER's use. 

2.1.5. Preparing documents for alternate bids requested by OWNER for Contractor(s)' work 
which is not executed or documents for out-of-sequence work. 

2.1.6. Investigations and studies involving, but not limited to, detailed consideration of 
operations, maintenance and overhead expenses; providing value engineering during 
the course of design; the preparation of feasibility studies, cash flow and economic 
evaluations, rate schedules and appraisals; assistance in obtaining financing for the 
Project; evaluating processes available for licensing and assisting OWNER in obtaining 
process licensing; detailed quantity surveys of material, equipment and labor; and audits 
or inventories required in connection with construction performed by OWNER. 

2.1.7. Furnishing services of independent professional associates and consultants for other 
than Basic Services (which include, but are not limited to, customary civil, structural, 
mechanical and electrical engineering and customary architectural design incidental 
thereto). This section includes the services from professionals identifying regulatory 
wetlands and submitting permits relating thereto. 

2.1.8. Services during out-of-town travel required of ENGINEER other than visits to the site or 
OWNER's office as required by Section 1. 

2.1.9. Assistance in connection with bid protests, rebidding or renegotiating contracts for 
construction, materials, equipment or services. 

2.1.10. Preparation of operating, maintenance and staffing manuals. 

2.1.11. Preparing to serve or serving as a consultant or witness for OWNER in any litigation 
involving the Project. 

2.1.12. Additional services in connection with the Project, including services which are to be 
furnished by OWNER in accordance with Article 3, and services not otherwise provided 
for in this Agreement. 

Page 59 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 7 of 14 

2.2. Required Additional Services. 

When required by the Contract Documents in circumstances beyond ENGINEER's 
control, ENGINEER shall furnish or obtain from others, as circumstances require during 
construction and without waiting for specific authorization from OWNER, Additional 
Services of the types listed in paragraphs 2.2.1. through 2.2.6., inclusive. These services 
are not included as part of Basic Services. ENGINEER shall advise OWNER promptly 
after starting any such additional services which will be paid for by OWNER as indicated 
in Section 5. 

2.2.1. Services in connection with work directive changes and change orders to reflect 
changes requested by OWNER if the resulting change in compensation for Basic 
Services is not commensurate with the additional services rendered. 

2.2.2. Services in making revisions to Drawings and Specifications occasioned by the 
acceptance of substitutions proposed by Contractor(s)'; and services after the award of 
each contract in evaluating and determining the acceptability of an unreasonable or 
excessive number of substitutions proposed by Contractor. 

2.2.3. Services resulting from significant delays, changes or price increases occurring as a 
direct or indirect result of material, equipment or energy shortages. 

2.2.4. Additional or extended services during construction made necessary by (1) work 
damaged by fire or other cause during construction, (2) a significant amount of defective 
or neglected work of any Contractor, (3) acceleration of the progress schedule involving 
services beyond normal working hours, and (4) default by any Contractor. 

2.2.5. Services (other than Basic Services during the Operational Phase) in connection with 
any partial utilization of any part of the Project by OWNER prior to Substantial 
Completion. 

2.2.6. Evaluating an unreasonable or extensive number of claims submitted by Contractor(s)' 
or others in connection with the work. 

SECTION 3 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

OWNER shall do the following in a timely manner so as not to delay the services of ENGINEER. 

3.1 Designate in writing a person to act as OWNER's representative with respect to the 
services to be rendered under this Agreement. Such person shall have complete 
authority to transmit instructions, receive information, interpret and define OWNER's 
policies and decisions with respect to ENGINEER's services for the Project. 

3.2. Provide all criteria and full information as to OWNER's requirements for the Project, 
including design objectives and constraints, space, capacity and performance 
requirements, flexibility and expandability, and any budgetary limitations; and furnish 
copies of all design and construction standards which OWNER will require to be 
included in the Drawings and Specifications. 

3.3. Assist ENGINEER by placing at ENGINEER's disposal all available information pertinent 
to the Project including previous reports and any other data relative to design or 
construction of the Project. 

Page 60 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 8 of 14 

3.4. Arrange for access to and make all provisions for ENGINEER to enter upon public and 
private property as required for ENGINEER to perform services under this Agreement. 

3.5. Examine all studies, reports, sketches, drawings, Specifications, proposals and other 
documents presented by ENGINEER, obtain advice of an attorney, insurance counselor 
and other consultants as OWNER deem appropriate for such examination and render in 
writing decisions pertaining thereto within a reasonable time so as not to delay the 
services of ENGINEER. 

3.6. Provide such accounting, independent cost estimating and insurance counseling 
services as may be required for the Project, such legal services and OWNER may 
require or Engineer may reasonably request with regard to legal issues pertaining to the 
Project including any that may be raised by Contractor(s)', such auditing service as 
OWNER may require to ascertain how or for what purpose any Contractor has used the 
moneys paid under the construction contract, and such inspection services as OWNER 
may require to ascertain that Contractor(s)' are complying with any law, rule, regulation, 
ordinance, code or other applicable to their furnishing and performing the work. 

3.7. If OWNER designates a person to represent OWNER at the site who is not ENGINEER 
or ENGINEER's agent or employee, the duties, responsibilities and limitations of 
authority of such other person and the affect thereof on the duties and responsibilities of 
ENGINEER and the Inspector (and any assistants) will be set forth in an exhibit that is to 
be identified, attached to and made a part of this Agreement before such services begin. 

3.8. Furnish to ENGINEER data or estimated figures as to OWNER's anticipated costs for 
services to be provided by others for OWNER (such as services pursuant to paragraphs 
3.5 through 3.7, inclusive) so that ENGINEER may make the necessary findings to 
support opinions of probable total project cost. 

3.9. Attend the pre-bid conference, bid opening, pre-construction conferences, construction 
progress and other job related meetings and substantial completion inspections and final 
payment inspections. 

3.10. Give prompt written notice to ENGINEER whenever OWNER observes or otherwise 
becomes aware of any development that affects the scope or timing of ENGINEER's 
services, or any defect or nonconformance in the work of any Contractor. 

3.11. Furnish, or direct ENGINEER to provide, Additional Services as stipulated in paragraph 
2.1. of this Agreement or other services as required. 

3.12. Bear all costs incident to compliance with the requirements of this Section 3. 

SECTION 4 – PERIODS OF SERVICE 

4.1 The provisions of this Section 4 and the various rates of compensation for ENGINEER's 
services provided for elsewhere in this Agreement have been agreed upon in 
anticipation of the orderly and continuous progress of the Project through completion of 
the Construction Phase. ENGINEER's obligation to render services hereunder will 
extend for a period which may reasonably be required for the design, award of contracts, 
construction and initial operation of the Project including extra work and required 
extensions thereto. 

Page 61 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 9 of 14 

4.2. Upon authorization from OWNER, ENGINEER shall proceed with the performance of the 
service called for in the Final design Phase; and shall deliver Contract Documents and 
an opinion of probable Total Project Costs for all work of Contractor(s) on the Project. 

4.3. ENGINEER's services under the Final Design Phase shall each be considered complete 
at the earlier of (1) the date when the submissions for that phase have been accepted by 
OWNER or (2) thirty days after the date when such submissions are delivered to 
OWNER for final acceptance, plus in each case such additional time as may be 
considered reasonable for obtaining approval of governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction to approve the design of the Project. 

4.4. After acceptance by OWNER of the ENGINEER's Drawings, Specifications and other 
Final Design Phase documentation including the most recent opinion of probable Total 
Project Costs and upon authorization to proceed, ENGINEER shall proceed with 
performance of the services called for in the Bidding or Negotiating Phase. This Phase 
shall terminate and the services to be rendered thereunder shall be considered complete 
upon commencement of the Construction Phase or upon cessation of negotiations with 
prospective Contractor(s). 

4.5. The Construction Phase will commence with the execution of the first prime contract to 
be executed for the work of the Project or any part thereof, and will terminate upon 
written recommendation by Engineer of final payment on the last prime contract to be 
completed. Construction Phase services may be rendered at different times in respect of 
separate prime contracts if the Project involves more than one prime contract. 

4.6. The Operational Phase will commence during the Construction Phase and will terminate 
one year after the date of Substantial Completion of the last prime contract for 
construction, materials and equipment on which substantial completion is achieved. 

4.7. If OWNER has requested significant modifications or changes in the general scope, 
extent or character of the Project, the time of performance of ENGINEER's services shall 
be adjusted equitably. 

4.8. If OWNER fails to give prompt authorization to proceed with any phase of services after 
completion of the immediately preceding phase, or if the Construction Phase has not 
commenced within 180 calendar days after completion of the Final Design Phase, 
ENGINEER may, after giving seven days written notice to OWNER, suspend services 
under this Agreement. 

4.9. In the event that the work designed or specified by ENGINEER is to be furnished or 
performed under more than one prime contract, or if ENGINEER's services are to be 
separately sequenced with the work of one or more prime contractors (such as in the 
case of fast-tracking), OWNER and ENGINEER shall, prior to commencement of the 
Final Design Phase, develop a schedule for performance of ENGINEER's services 
during the Final Design, Bidding or Negotiating and Construction Phases in order to 
sequence and coordinate properly such services as are applicable to the work under 
such separate contracts. 

Page 62 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 10 of 14 

SECTION 5 – PAYMENTS TO THE ENGINEER 

5.1 Methods of Payment for Services and Expenses of ENGINEER. 

5.1.1. For all services of ENGINEER under this agreement, payment will be made on an hourly 
rate basis in accordance with the Hourly Rate Charge Schedule attached hereto as 
exhibit C. The following is an estimate of fees anticipated under this agreement: 

a. Final Design           $ 150,000.00 

b. Bidding Phase           $   15,000.00 

c. Construction Phase           $ 157,500.00 

d. Operation Phase           $ 10,000.00 

e. Reimbursable items          $ 2,500.00 

            TOTAL ESTIMATED FEE $ 335,000.00 

5.1.2. For Additional Services. OWNER shall pay ENGINEER for Additional Services rendered 
under Section 2 on an hourly rate basis in accordance with the Hourly Rate Charge 
Schedule or a mutually agreed to price. 

5.1.3. For Reimbursable Expenses. In addition to payments provided for in paragraph 5.1.1, 
OWNER shall pay ENGINEER the actual costs (except where specifically provided 
otherwise) of all Reimbursable Expenses incurred in connection with all Basic and 
Additional Services. 

5.1.4. The terms "Salary Costs" and "Reimbursable Expenses" have the meanings assigned to 
them in paragraph 5.4. 

5.2. Times of Payments. 

5.2.1. ENGINEER shall submit monthly statements for Basic and Additional Services rendered 
and for Reimbursable Expenses incurred. OWNER shall make prompt monthly 
payments in response to ENGINEER's monthly statements. 

5.3. Other Provisions Concerning Payments. 

5.3.1. In the event of termination by OWNER under paragraph 7.1 upon the completion of any 
phase of the Basic Services, progress payments due ENGINEER for services rendered 
through such phase shall constitute total payment for such services. In the event of such 
termination by OWNER during any phase of the Basic Services, ENGINEER also will be 
reimbursed for the charges of independent professional associates and consultants 
employed by ENGINEER to render Basic Services, and paid for services rendered 
during that phase on the basis of ENGINEER's Salary Costs times a factor of 2.0 for 
services rendered during that phase to date of termination by ENGINEER's principals 
and employees engaged directly on the Project. In the event of any such termination, 
ENGINEER will be paid for all unpaid Additional Services and unpaid Reimbursable 
Expenses. 

Page 63 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 11 of 14 

5.3.2. Records of ENGINEER's Salary Costs pertinent to ENGINEER's compensation under 
this Agreement will be kept in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. 
Copies will be made available to OWNER at cost on request prior to final payment for 
ENGINEER's services. 

5.4. Definitions. 

5.4.1. The Salary Costs used as a basis for payment mean salaries and wages (basic and 
incentive) paid to all ENGINEER's personnel engaged directly on the Project, including, 
but not limited to, engineers, architects, surveyors, designers, draftsmen, specification 
writers, estimators, other technical and business personnel; plus the cost of customary 
and statutory benefits including, but not limited to, social security taxes, workers' 
compensation, health and retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay and 
other group benefits. 

5.4.2. Reimbursable Expenses mean the actual expenses incurred by ENGINEER or 
ENGINEER's independent professional associates or consultants directly or indirectly in 
connection with the Project, such as expenses for: obtaining bids or proposals from 
Contractor(s); reproduction of reports, Drawings, Specifications, Bidding Documents and 
similar Project-related items in addition to those required under Section 1; and if 
authorized in advance by OWNER, overtime work requiring higher than regular rates. In 
addition, if authorized in advance by OWNER, Reimbursable Expenses will also include 
expenses incurred for computer time and other highly specialized equipment, including 
an appropriate charge for previously established programs and expenses of 
photographic production techniques times a factor of 1.10. 

SECTION 6 – CONSTRUCTION COST AND OPINIONS OF COST 

6.1 Construction Cost. 

6.1.1. The construction cost of the entire Project (herein referred to as "Construction Cost") 
means the total cost to OWNER of those portions of the entire Project designed and 
specified by ENGINEER, but it will not include ENGINEER's compensation and 
expenses, the cost of land, rights-of-way, or compensation for or damages to, properties 
unless this Agreement so specifies, nor will it include OWNER's legal, accounting, 
insurance counseling or auditing services, or interest and financing charges incurred in 
connection with the Project or the cost of other services to be provided by others to 
OWNER pursuant to paragraphs 3.5 through 3.7, inclusive. 

6.2. Opinions of Cost. 

6.2.1. Since ENGINEER has no control over the cost of labor, materials, equipment or services 
furnished by others, or over the Contractor(s)' methods of determining prices, or over 
competitive bidding or market conditions, ENGINEER's opinions of probable Total 
Project Costs and Construction Cost provided for herein are to be made on the basis of 
ENGINEER's experience and qualifications and represent ENGINEER's best judgment 
as an experienced and qualified professional engineer, familiar with the construction 
industry; but ENGINEER cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual 
Total Project or Construction Costs will not vary from opinions of probable cost prepared 
by ENGINEER. If prior to the Bidding or Negotiating Phase OWNER wishes greater 

Page 64 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 12 of 14 

assurance as to Total Project or Construction Costs, OWNER shall employ an 
independent cost estimator as provided in paragraph 3.6. 

6.2.2. If a Construction Cost limit is established by written agreement between OWNER and 
ENGINEER and specifically set forth in this Agreement as a condition thereto, the 
following will apply: 

6.2.2.1. The acceptance by OWNER at any time during the Basic Services of a revised 
opinion of probable Total Project or Construction Costs in excess of the then established 
cost limit will constitute a corresponding revision in the Construction Cost limit to the 
extent indicated in such revised opinion. 

SECTION 7 - OTHER 

7.1 Termination 

7.1.1. The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated: 

7.1.1.1. By either party upon 30 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by 
the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the 
terminating party. 

7.1.1.2. Upon seven days written notice if ENGINEER believes that ENGINEER is being 
requested by OWNER to furnish or perform services contrary to ENGINEER'S 
responsibilities as a licensed professional; or 

7.1.1.3. Upon seven days written notice if the ENGINEER'S services for the Project are 
delayed or suspended for more than ninety days for reasons beyond ENGINEER'S 
control. 

7.1.1.4. ENGINEER shall have no liability to OWNER on account of such termination. 

7.1.1.5. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate as a result of 
such substantial failure if the party receiving such notice begins, within seven days of 
receipt of such notice, to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure 
such failure within no more than 30 days or receipt thereof; provided that if and to the 
extent such substantial failure cannot be reasonably cured with such 30 day period, and 
if such party has diligently attempted to sure the same and thereafter continues diligently 
to sure the same, then the cure period provided for herein shall extend up to, but in no 
case more than, 60 days after the date of receipt of the notice. 

7.1.1.6. For convenience, by OWNER effective upon the receipt of notice by ENGINEER. 

7.1.2. The terminating party under paragraphs 7.1 may set the effective date of termination at a 
time up to 30 days later than otherwise provided to allow ENGINEER to demobilize 
personnel and equipment from the Site, to complete tasks whose value would otherwise 
be lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and uncompleted tasks, and to 
assemble Project materials in orderly files. 

7.2. ENGINEER shall procure and maintain insurance for protection from claims under 
workers' compensation acts, claims for damages because of bodily injury including 
personal injury, sickness or disease or death of any and all employees or of any person 

Page 65 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 13 of 14 

other than such employees, and from claims or damages because of injury to or 
destruction of property including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

7.3. Controlling Law. 

7.3.1. This agreement is to be governed by the law of the STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA. 

7.4. Successors and Assigns. 

7.4.1. OWNER and ENGINEER each is hereby bound and the partners, successors, 
executors, administrators and legal representatives of OWNER and ENGINEER (and to 
the extent permitted by paragraph 7.4.2. the assigns of OWNER and ENGINEER) are 
hereby bound to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, 
executors, administrators and legal representatives (and said assigns) of such other 
party, in respect of all covenants, agreements and obligations of this Agreement. 

7.4.2. Neither OWNER nor ENGINEER shall assign, sublet or transfer any rights under or 
interest in (including, but without limitation, moneys that may become due or moneys 
that are due) this Agreement without the written consent of the other, except to the 
extent that any assignment, subletting or transfer is mandated by law or the effect of this 
limitation may be restricted by law. Unless specifically stated to the contrary in any 
written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor 
from any duty or responsibility under this Agreement. 

7.4.3. Nothing under this Agreement shall be construed to give any rights or benefits in this 
Agreement to anyone other than OWNER and ENGINEER, and all duties and 
responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this Agreement will be for the sole and exclusive 
benefit of OWNER and ENGINEER and not for the benefit of any other party. 

7.5. Disputes. 

7.5.1. All unresolved claims, counterclaims, disputes and other matters in question between 
the parties hereto arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach thereof will be 
decided by the appropriate division of the General Court of Justice unless alternative 
resolution procedures are mutually agreed to between the Parties.  

Page 66 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 14 of 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

OWNER: ENGINEER:

Jerry Peterman Franz K. Holt 
Mayor President

WITNESS: WITNESS: 

Darcy Sperry, City Clerk Mark D. Reich, Corporate Treasurer 

Page 67 of 167



!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2 !! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2!
! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

!! 2

[ Ú
CI

TY
 O

F B
UR

LIN
GT

ON
18

" S
AN

ITA
RY

 SE
WE

R

CI
TY

 O
F B

UR
LIN

GT
ON

12
" S

AN
ITA

RY
 SE

WE
R

EX
IST

IN
G 

BO
YD

CR
EE

K 
PU

MP
 S

TA
TIO

N CI
TY

 O
F G

RA
HA

M
8"

 S
AN

ITA
RY

 SE
WE

R

CI
TY

 O
F G

RA
HA

M
18

" S
AN

ITA
RY

 SE
WE

R

CI
TY

 O
F G

RA
HA

M
10

" F
OR

CE
 M

AI
N

CI
TY

 O
F G

RA
HA

M
PR

OP
ER

TY
 10

.1 
AC

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
EL

OC
AT

IO
N

OF
 B

OY
D 

CR
EE

K
PU

MP
 ST

AT
IO

N

PR
OP

OS
ED

AC
CE

SS
 R

OA
D

!! 2

!! 2

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
EL

OC
AT

IO
N

OF
 G

RA
VI

TY
 SE

WE
R

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
EL

OC
AT

IO
N

OF
 FO

RC
E M

AI
N

50
' P

IED
MO

NT
 N

AT
UR

AL
GA

S R
OW

10
0 F

T R
/W

AT
&T

 B
UR

IED
 C

AB
LE

 A
AT

&T
 B

UR
IED

 C
AB

LE
 B

10
0 F

T R
/W

ING
OL

D D
R

GANT R
D

52
3

53
0

52
4

529

526

52
5

528

52
7

³
all

ey,
 w

illi
am

s, c
arm

en
 &

 ki
ng

, in
c.

E
 N

 G
 I 

N
 E

 E
 R

 S
  &

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I 
T

 E
 C

 T
 S

7
4

0
 c

h
a

p
e

l h
ill

 r
o

a
d

b
u

rl
in

g
to

n
, 

n
.c

. 
2

7
2

1
5

p
.o

. 
b

o
x 

11
7

9
(3

3
6

)2
2

6
-5

5
3

4

CI
TY

 O
F G

RA
HA

M 1 i
nc

h =
 15

0 f
ee

t

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 

S
K

S

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 B

Y
: 

C
M

A

JO
B

 N
O

: 
1

2
1

2
6

BO
YD

 C
RE

EK
 PU

MP
 ST

AT
IO

N
PR

OP
OS

ED
 R

EL
OC

AT
IO

N

EX
HI

BI
T A

Page 68 of 167



EXHIBIT A (Continued) 

Back Creek No. 2 Pump Station Improvements 

Back Creek #2 

Pump Station 

Site
ACC

Page 69 of 167



Construction

New 18" Gravity Sewer and 10" Force Main
Mobilization, Grading , Site Work, and Access Road
700 GPM Pump Station (2 Pumps), piping and precast structures
Shelter and Electrical
Relocate Standby Generator
Select Backfill
Rock Excavation
Erosion Control, Seeding, Mulching
Automatic Bar Screen in Precast vault and Compactor
New Water Service Line to Pump Station

Sub-Total

Engineering

Final Design
Bidding Phase
Construction Phase
Operations Phase
Reimbursable Items

Sub-Total

Contingency

Project Total

-$  

80,000.00$                
200,000.00$              
625,000.00$              
150,000.00$              

20,000.00$                
80,000.00$                

100,000.00$              
50,000.00$                

200,000.00$              
70,000.00$                

1,575,000.00$           

2,000,000.00$           

Estimated Cost

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement  - Estimate of Probable Cost 

  Exhibit B. 

1,500.00$  
265,000.00$              

-$  

160,000.00$              
-$  

-$  

-$  
-$  

120,000.00$              
10,000.00$                

127,500.00$              
6,000.00$  

740 Chapel Hill Road (27215)  -  P.O. Box 1179  -  Burlington, North Carolina 27216 
Tel. - (336) 226-5534   -   Fax – (336) 226-3034   -   awck.com 

ESTABLISHED    -    1960 

alley, williams, carmen & king, inc.
E n g i n e e r i n g      A r c h i t e c t u r e      L a n d  S u r v e y i n g

Page 70 of 167



  Exhibit B. (Continued)

Construction

Two 200 GPM Pumps, Electrical Work and Controls
Blower Fan
Access Door/Hatch
Standby Generator
Platform and Shelter over controls

Sub-Total

Engineering

Final Design
Bidding Phase
Construction Phase
Operation Phase
Reimbursable Items

Sub-Total

Contingency

Project Total

Estimated Cost

Back Creek No. 2 San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement  - Estimate of Probable Cost 

1,000.00$  
70,000.00$                

230,000.00$              
10,000.00$                
20,000.00$                
85,000.00$                
35,000.00$                

500,000.00$              
-$  

30,000.00$                
4,000.00$  

380,000.00$              

-$  

50,000.00$                

-$  
-$  

30,000.00$                
5,000.00$  

-$  

740 Chapel Hill Road (27215)  -  P.O. Box 1179  -  Burlington, North Carolina 27216 
Tel. - (336) 226-5534   -   Fax – (336) 226-3034   -   awck.com 

alley, williams, carmen & king, inc.
E n g i n e e r i n g      A r c h i t e c t u r e      L a n d  S u r v e y i n g

Page 71 of 167



1. Eng
a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 

2. Arc
a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 

3. Sur
a. 
b. 
c. 

4. Tec
a. 
b. 

5. Sur
a. 
b. 

6. Con

7. Cle

8. Oth

a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 
e. 
f. 

g. 

h. 

740 Cha

HOUR
This 

gineers: 
EI – Eng
Registere
Associat
Principal

chitects: 
Architect
Registere
Associat
Principal

rveyors: 
Surveyor
Registere
Associat

chnical Staff: 
Project M
CADD D

rvey Parties: 
2-Man P
3-Man P

nstruction Obse

erical 

her: 

Employees' o
Professional 
Printing and 
Mileage:  Tr
Overnight or
The above ra
an annual ba
Where range
with the indi
Payment wil

E n g i n e e

apel Hill Road (
Tel. - (336) 

RLY CHA
information is

gineering Intern
ed Professiona
e/Registered P
l/Registered Pr

ts in Training 
ed Architect 
e/Registered A
l/Registered Ar

r in Training 
ed Land Survey
e/Registered L

Manager 
Designer/Techn

arty 
arty 

erver 

overtime (when
Consultants:  
Mailing:  1.10
avel to job site
r extended trav
ates are subject
asis. 
es of hourly cha
ividual perform
l be made mon

e r i n g

(27215)  -  P.O
226-5534   -   F

ESTABL

EXH

ARGE RAT
 confidential a

n 
l Engineer 

Professional En
rofessional Eng

Architect 
rchitect 

yor 
Land Surveyor

nician 

n authorized in
1.10 times the 

0 times the amo
e No Charge, b
vel: 1.10 times 
t to adjustment

arge rates are l
ming the service
nthly based on 

A r c h i t e c

. Box 1179  -  B
Fax – (336) 22

LISHED    -    1

HIBIT 

TE SCHE
nd is intended 

ngineer 
gineer 

n advance):  1.5
amount billed 

ount billed to A
ut time is inclu
the amount bil
t in accordance

listed, the rate c
es. 
invoices subm

c t u r e L

Burlington, Nor
26-3034   -   aw

960 

C 

EDULE – J
for use by the 

50 times Hourl
to AWCK, Inc

AWCK, Inc. 
uded from our 
lled to AWCK,
e with normal s

charged will b

mitted by Alley,

L a n d  S u r v

rth Carolina 27
wck.com 

JULY 1, 2
recipient only

$  70.00 
  100.00 
  115.00 

175.00 

-
- 
-
- 

$  70.00 
   85.00 

  135.00 
165.00 

-
- 
-
- 

$  60.00 
   80.00 
  90.00 

-
- 
- 

$  80.00 
   65.00 

-
- 

$140.00 
 190.00 

-
- 

$  75.00 - 

$  50.00 - 

ly Charge Rate
c. 

office to job si
, Inc. 
salary and rate 

e the actual ch

, Williams, Car

v e y i n g

7216 

015 
y. 

$  90.00/Hr.
130.00/Hr.
145.00/Hr.
195.00/Hr.

$  90.00/Hr.
125.00/Hr.
150.00/Hr.
175.00/Hr.

$  80.00/Hr.
95.00/Hr.

115.00/Hr.

$120.00/Hr.
90.00/Hr.

$155.00/Hr.
205.00/Hr.

$  95.00/Hr.

$  65.00/Hr.

e. 

ite and return.

review practic

harge rate assoc

rmen & King, 

ces on 

ciated 

Inc. 

Page 72 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc. 
Response to Request for Qualifications 

Project: Boyd Creek Sanitary Sewer Lift 
Station Replacement and Back Creek #2 

Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Upgrade 
for 

City of Graham 

 

 

July 21, 2015 

alley, williams, carmen, and king, inc. 
Engineering    Architecture    Land Surveying 

740 Chapel Hill Road (27215)  -  P.O. Box 1179  -  Burlington, North Carolina 27216 
Tel. - (336)226-5534   -   Fax – (336)226-3034   -   awck.com 

Page 73 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Letter of Interest 
July 20, 2015 

Mr. Frankie Maness, City Manager 
City of Graham 
P.O. Drawer 357 
201 South Main Street 
Graham, N.C. 27253 

Re: Letter of Interest and Statement of Qualifications for Engineering Services 
Boyd Creek Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Replacement Project  
Back Creek No. 2 Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Upgrade Project 

 Graham, N.C. 

Dear Mr. Maness: 

Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc. is pleased to submit this letter of interest with our statement of 
qualifications to the City of Graham for the referenced project.  We believe that we have assembled a 
highly qualified team of professionals that is experienced with large utility and sanitary sewer projects 
that can work with City of Graham to complete a high quality project in a timely manner.  AWCK has a 
50 plus year history of working with Municipal Governments including the City of Graham, serving as 
their City Engineer and Consultant for many years. We encourage you to contact any of our references 
provided and we believe all of the references will provide you with a positive statement of our 
qualifications and abilities. 

We feel that by selecting our firm, the City of Graham will have the full depth of our resources available 
to them, including our experienced personnel as shown by our past project experience, and our knowledge 
of the current project needs as demonstrated in our previous engineering reports for the project.  We also 
believe that our project approach will effectively address all aspects of the project from the preliminary 
planning, final design, bidding, and the administration and inspection of the project.  In addition, we also 
believe that our day to day working relationship with city personnel will allow us to communicate with 
those who are responsible for maintaining and operating the proposed project improvements, so that the 
City of Graham’s unique needs are met. 

In closing, we thank you for the opportunity to present our letter of interest and this statement of 
qualifications.  Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at (336) 226-5534 or 
fholt@awck.com. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Franz K. Holt, P.E. 

Page 74 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Table of Contents 

Letter of Interest ................................................................................................................................. 
Executive Summary .........................................................................................................................1 
a. Project Approach and Schedule ...................................................................................................2

Project Approach .....................................................................................................................2 
Project Schedule .......................................................................................................................4 

b. Experience of Proposed Personnel...............................................................................................5
c. Availability of Proposed Personnel ..............................................................................................7

Organizational Depth ...............................................................................................................7 
Availability of Key Personnel ..................................................................................................8 

d. Experience and Demonstrated Quality of Performance ...............................................................9
City of Graham & City of Mebane—AICDZ Phase 1 and Phase 2: Water and Sanitary 
Sewer Improvements ...............................................................................................................9 
City of Graham—Cherry Lane Lift Station and Force Main .................................................10 
City of Mebane—North Regional Lift Station and Force Main Replacement ......................11 
Town of Haw River—Primary Pump Station and Force Main Replacement ........................12 
City of Burlington—Whitsett Lift Station Renovation ..........................................................13 

e. Project References ......................................................................................................................14
Appendix ............................................................................................................................................ 

f. Certificate of Insurance for City of Graham ...........................................................................
g. Business License ....................................................................................................................
h. Standard Contract ...................................................................................................................

Page 75 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 1 

Executive Summary 
Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc. is located in Burlington, N.C. and is an engineering, architecture, 
and surveying company that has been providing continuous service in the Alamance County area (and 
beyond) for over 60 years. Our earliest association with the Town of Graham (later as the City of 
Graham) is from the 1950’s when the company provided engineering services on various water, sewer, 
and street projects. That association has continued to the present time with similar services being 
provided. 

The City of Graham is soliciting letters of interest for consulting engineering services related to the design 
and construction of the Boyd Creek Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Replacement and the Back Creek No.2 
Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Upgrade. We are very familiar with both stations having recently provided an 
engineering review and cost estimates for each station. We also provided the original design for the Back 
Creek No. 2 station in the 1980’s. We are pleased to provide this statement of qualifications as requested 
by the City. 

The Boyd Creek Lift Station Replacement project will include the following major items: New wet well 
with 700 GPM pumps, emergency generator, automatic bar screen, and related access drive, shelter, 
fencing, and water service. The estimated project cost for this work is approximately $2,000,000. 

The Back Creek No. 2 Lift Station Upgrade project will include the installation of duplex 200 GPM 
pumps, controls, standby generator, and shelter. The estimated cost for this work is approximately 
$500,000. 

AWCK is well qualified to provide the requested services. We have significant experience in new pump 
station design/construction and pump station upgrades. Furthermore, we have experienced personnel that 
will be assigned to your projects that have many years of experience to draw upon to bring you a quality 
product that you will be pleased with. 

Our services under this project will include the following: 

1. Preliminary Design – meetings, subsurface investigation (as needed), identifying environmental
features (as needed), finalizing design, all in order to produce the final design documents

2. Construction Documents – Final Drawings and Specifications with Bid Documents

3. Pre-Construction Services -  Permits, LGC loan approval process, and Easements (as needed)

4. Construction Administration – Notice of Award, Shop Drawing Approval, Notice to Proceed,
Inspection of work, Change Orders (as needed), Pay Application Review, and Project
Certification and Close Out

AWCK provides these types of service daily, as we have completed numerous similar type projects for 
the City of Graham and other Municipalities.  It is our goal that our project team will assist the City by 
helping them to receive a quality project, on schedule, and within the funds allotted. We are ready to 
proceed upon your notice as we have the personnel available to meet your needs. 

Page 76 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 2 

a. Project Approach and Schedule

Project Approach 

We have developed the following project approach for both the Boyd Creek Pump Station 
Replacement and Back Creek No. 2 Upgrade.  We plan to address all aspects of the project while 
using our most qualified and experienced personnel in order to meet the City of Graham’s unique 
needs. 

A.  Planning and Design Phase 
1. Establish a pre design planning meeting

where the following items are reviewed and
discussed:
a) Preliminary Engineering Reports and

Anticipated Project Costs
b) Possible environmental features to avoid
c) Latest flood plain data available
d) Available power
e) Location of existing utilities (horizontal

and vertical)
f) Identify review agencies
g) Identify if any easements will be required
h) Identify if any encroachment agreements are needed
i) Property survey topographic and property boundaries
j) Identify any access issues for construction and future maintenance
k) Evaluation of Pumping Capacity
l) Subsurface Evaluation for possible rock – specifically the Boyd Creek Pump Station

Site
2. If easements are required, mail letters to property owners explaining the project with

exhibit map and seeking permission to survey on their property.
3. Upon receiving permission to survey from the City and or adjacent property owners (if

needed), we will ask our environmental consultant to determine in the field any
environmental features and have a utility locate completed.  While this work is ongoing
we will do a topographic survey of the project limits and collect and map any determined
environmental features, utilities and flood plain.  Once completed, we will prepare a
recommended final site plan with all potential impacts to utilities, adjacent properties,
environmental features, and flood plain all being identified.  At this stage we will also
have our subsurface consultant bore to determine if rock is present at the proposed Boyd
Creek Pump Station Site.  Where possible, our design will minimize adverse impacts and
conflicts.

4. Once the City approves the preliminary site design, we will then move forward with
completion of the construction drawings, permitting, and specifications with bid
documents.  We anticipate monthly meetings with the City to review the progress and to
make project decisions as needed.  We will also finalize the approval agency list which
may include NCDENR – Fast Track Pump Station Approval, NCDENR –Erosion Control

Page 77 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 3 

Plan Approval and Land Disturbance Permit, NCDENR and USACE for Nationwide 
permitting of potential stream crossings and buffer disturbance.  In addition, NCDOT 
approval and encroachment will be required for any work in their right-of-way. 

5. If easements are needed, we will prepare easement maps, deed descriptions, and offers
(we have most recently been using fair market value as determined by the County Tax
Department for the value of the easement and offering 75% of the value for perm.
easements and 25% of the value for temp. easements).  Once approved by the City, we or
the City will mail these items to each property owner.  Once acceptance of the offers
have been made and returned, the City will arrange a time to execute the easement
(signatures, notarize, and payment).  The easements will then be recorded.  Any offer not
returned within 10 days will prompt a phone call to the property owner to discuss the
easement further.  If terms cannot be agreed to then the City may have to move forward
with other available means of obtaining the easement.

B. Bidding and Construction Phase  
1. Once the City has approved the construction drawings and bid documents, the project

will be placed out for bid.  The project will be advertised in the local newspaper and
posted on various web sites for Minority or Disadvantaged Business participation.  The
advertisement for bid will be developed with the City and include a pre-bid conference
date, bid date, location of bid opening, list of bonds required, scope of the project, etc.
We will also e-mail the copy of advertisement to contractors.  We will also contact
contractors throughout the bidding process to try to gauge the bidding climate.  In
addition, we will prepare a pre-bid estimate based on the final design documents.

2. Upon receiving favorable bids, we will make a recommendation for contract award to the
City.  The recommendation will be for the low responsive/responsible bidder and will be
subject to any remaining approvals, easements to be obtained and LGC approval of
project financing.  We will assist the City through the LGC process.

3. Once the contract is awarded and final approvals/easements have been obtained, we will
forward the contracts to the contractor for execution.  At that time, we will also ask the
contractor to provide shop drawings.

4. Upon receipt of the contracts from the contractor, we will call for a preconstruction
conference which will include all interested parties and the project documents will be
reviewed with the contractor with discussion of expectations and any project concerns
(environmental, property owner related, utility, access or other).  In addition, we will
establish biweekly meetings on site.

5. Once the contracts are executed and shop drawings are approved, we will provide the
contractor with the notice to proceed with the completion date being established.

6. We anticipate inspecting the project daily (part time).  We will make daily field reports
and alert the City to any project concerns when they occur.

7. Rock (if encountered) will be measured by our firm.
8. We will process monthly pay requests and hold monthly project progress meetings with

contractor and owner.
9. We will measure all quantities and keep a record of project changes and provide record

drawings to the City once all work is complete.
10. We will be present all testing and make records of the tests (includes ECS when needed).

Page 78 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 4 

11. Once the project is stabilized, we will check with the Land Quality Section for the
removal of any temporary erosion control devices.

12. Upon approval from the Land Quality Section, we will authorize the contractor to remove
temporary devices and perform touch up grassing as needed.

13. We will inspect the project (when complete) with the City for final approval.
14. Once all contract closeout documents are received from the contractor we will

recommend for release final payment with a warrantee period being established.
15. We will perform an on-site inspection with the City prior to the warrantee period

expiring.

Project Schedule  

City of Graham 

Boyd Creek Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Replacement & Back Creek #2 Sanitary Sewer Lift 

Station Upgrade 

 AWCK/City of Graham Begin Date Completion/Award Date 
Engineering Contract July, 2015 August, 2015 

Design Phase 

Preliminary Eng. Design Meeting Beg. August, 2015 Mid. August, 2015 

Letters to Property Owners (if 
needed) 

Mid. August, 2015 End August, 2015 

Field Data Collection End August, 2015 Mid. September, 2015 

Environmental Survey Mid. September, 2015 End September, 2015 

Engineering Design End September, 2015 End November, 2015 

Easement Mapping (if needed) Beg. November, 2015 Mid. November, 2015 

Easement Acquisition (if needed) Mid. November, 2015 End December, 2015 

Permit Applications and 
Approvals 

Beg. November, 2015 Beg. December, 2015 

Bidding Process Beg. December 2015 End December 2015 

LGC Process and Contract 
Award 

Beg. January, 2016 Beg. February, 2016 

Construction Phase 

Notice to Proceed Beg. March, 2016 

Shop Drawing Review Mid. March, 2016 End March, 2016 

Construction (approx. 300 days) Beg. March, 2016 End December, 2016 

Project Close Out Beg. January, 2017 Mid. January, 2017 

Page 79 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 5 

b. Experience of Proposed Personnel

Alley, Williams, Carmen and King, Inc. (AWCK) is proposing a project team consisting of 
professional, technical and support personnel that will provide a wide variety of expertise to 
complete the project in a timely fashion. The proposed team has worked successfully together to 
complete several similar projects for public clients in the Piedmont Area. AWCK is committed 
to providing a high level of quality work to all its clients. 

Principal In Charge and Project Manager: 
Franz Holt, P.E. will provide Principal Oversight of the project 
team. Franz is the President of the Company, a corporate stockholder 
and one of the Board of Directors. Franz serves as the City Engineer 
for the City of Graham, the Town of Elon, and the Town of 
Swepsonville all in N.C.  He has served as Project Manager or 
Principal in Charge on a variety of water, sanitary sewer, street, 
sidewalk, and storm drainage projects.  

Principal Oversight: 
Darrell Russell, P.E. will provide Principal Oversight of the project 
team. Darrell is the Chairmen of the Board of Directors and has been 
with AWCK for over 40 years. Darrell has worked on many water 
and sewer projects throughout Alamance County along with many 
large sanitary sewer projects with the City of Burlington and 
Mebane. This experience includes several of the large outfall lines in 
the City’s system as well as several projects at the East Burlington 
Waste Water Treatment Plant. 

Project Engineer: 
C. Mark Averette, P.E. will be the Project Engineer. Mark has been 
with AWCK since 1997. Mark has worked on many large sanitary 
sewer projects and has been the Project Engineer for several large 
pump station projects for area municipalities. Prior to working with 
AWCK, Mark worked for the City of Burlington in the Engineering 
Department for 14 years.  

Assistant Project Engineer: 
Kyle Smith P.E. will be the Assistant Project Engineer during the 
design and construction of the project. Along with being a 
professional engineer, Kyle is a highly qualified construction 
inspector. Kyle has overseen the installation of thousands of feet of 
utility lines and was highly involved in the City of Graham’s AICDZ 
sanitary sewer and water improvements.  

EDUCATION:  
BS BAE ENGINEERING 
NORTH CAROLINA STATE  
UNIVERSITY, 2002 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 8 YEARS 

  BUCK ENGINEERING—3 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

NC Professional Engineer—039206 
NCDWQ SWITC—593‐310 
NCDOT Concrete Field Tech—PCT‐7645 
NCDOT ABC Sampling School—ABC‐7645 
NCDOT Borrow Pit Sampling Tech—BPS‐7645 
NCODT Conv. Density Tech—CDT‐7645

EDUCATION:  
BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 

  NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNUVERSITY, 1984 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 13 YEARS 
CITY OF BURLINGTON — 14 YEARS 

REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
N.C. 14838 

EDUCATION:  
BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 
UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA AT 
CHARLOTTE, 1983 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
  AWCK — 32 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
N.C. 15816 

EDUCATION: 
BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 

  NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNUVERSITY, 1972 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 42 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
N.C. 7737 

Page 80 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 6 

Gary R. Parrish, PLS will be responsible for researching 
existing deeds and final plats; researching NCDOT maps and 
acquisitions; and will prepare any necessary easement maps for 
the project. Gary has been with AWCK since 2003 and surveying 
for the past 30 years.  Gary has extensive experience with 
conducting field surveys and preparation of maps for boundary 
surveys, right-of-way maps and easement maps.  

M. Health Williams, PLS is the Burlington Office Survey 
Department Manager and will oversee the surveying activities for 
the project. Heath has been with AWCK since 1996 and has been 
managing the Survey Department for the past 6 years. Heath will 
be in charge of coordinating all the field data collection, base 
mapping, topographic mapping, and construction stakeout needs 
for the project.  

Wally Fox is an engineering technician with AWCK and has been 
with the company since 1989. Wally will assist the Project Team 
by providing computer aided drafting services. Wally has 
provided technical assistance on a variety of public and private 
projects including but not limited to water and sanitary sewer 
projects (including pump stations), subdivisions, preparation of 
preliminary and final site plans for commercial, industrial, 
institutional and residential projects.    

Troy King, P.E., is a recent hire by AWCK and has 10 years of 
experience of progressive Civil Engineering experience. Troy will 
assist the Project Team by providing design services. Since 
joining AWCK, Troy has worked on several municipal projects 
and will assist the project team while also reducing the workflow 
from other projects on the project team.  

Roger Baldwin will assist the Project Engineer during the 
construction observation and inspection services period of the 
project. Roger currently provides construction oversight for most 
AWCK projects as well as municipal inspection services for the 
City of Mebane and Town of Elon. Roger has been in the 
construction industry for almost 30 years and has a wide ranging 
construction background.  

EDUCATION:  
  BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 
NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIVERSITY, 2004 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 2 MONTHS 
JACOBS ENGINEERING—3 YEARS 
HADEN‐STANZIALE‐6 YEARS 

REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
NC PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER—035017 

EDUCATION:  
UNC Wilmington – 1980‐1983 
Guilford Technical Community College –  
AAS in Architecture Technology –  1987‐1989 
UNC Greensboro – 1997‐1998 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 14 YEARS 

  OTHER CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY‐15 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

NCDOT Concrete Field Tech—PCT‐8959 
NCDOT ABC Sampling School—ABC‐8959 
NCDOT Borrow Pit Sampling Tech—BPS‐8959 
NCODT Conv. Density Tech—CDT‐8959 

EDUCATION:  
ASSOCIATES DEGREE CIVIL ENGINEERING 
GUILFORD TECHNICAL COMMUNITY  
COLLEGE, 1980 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 25 YEARS 
OTHER PRIVATE FIRMS — 6 YEARS 
CITY OF REIDSVILLE — 3 YEARS 

EDUCATION:  
AAS DEGREE ‐ MECH. DRAFTING TECH 
ALAMANCE CC, 1994 
SURVEYING, GTCC, 2005 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 18 YEARS 

  NANCE & BROWN — 2 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR  
N.C. 4607 

EDUCATION:  
BA ‐Geography 
ELON COLLEGE, 1978 
5 YEARS OF HIGHER EDUCATION 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 11 YEARS 
OTHER PRIVATE FIRMS — 15 YEARS 
NCDOT — 8 YEARS 

REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR 
N.C. L‐3526 

Page 81 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 7 

c. Availability of Proposed Personnel

The project team proposed by Alley, Williams, Carmen and King provides great depth and the 
unique ability to maximize workloads/schedules to make sure the Boyd Creek and Back Creek 
#2 Lift Station projects are completed on time and within budget. 

Organizational Depth 

Page 82 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 8 

Availability of Key Personnel 

Project Team  

Member J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J

Franz Holt, P.E.
Principal & 

Project Manager

Darrell Russell, P.E. Backup Principal

Mark Averette, P.E. Project Engineer

Kyle Smith, P.E.
Asst. Proj. 
Engineer

Heath Williams, PLS
Surveying 
Manager

Gary Parrish, PLS
Easement 
Mapping

Troy King, PE Design Services

Wally Fox
Engineering 
Technician

Roger Baldwin
Construction 
Observation

2017Team   
Role

2015

Current Workload

Time Commitments

35% or Less

36% - 55%

56% - 75%

76% - 100%

2016

Page 83 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 9 

d. Experience and Demonstrated Quality of Performance

City of Graham & City of Mebane—AICDZ Phase 1 and Phase 2: Water and 
Sanitary Sewer Improvements 

Hawfields, North Carolina 

AWCK has worked extensively with the Cities of Graham and Mebane, NCDOT, and the 
Alamance County Chamber of Commerce to provide engineering services for the Alamance 
Interstate Corridor Development Zone in the Hawfields area. AWCK’s work includes surveying, 
permitting, master planning, final design of water, sewer, and roadway improvements, final 
easement preparation, and bidding. The project includes over 17,000’ of 15” and 18” sanitary 
sewer and another 17,000’+ of 12” and 16” waterlines. The infrastructure services will serve the 
1,200 acre economic development zone and AWCK was recognized by the Alamance County 
Chamber of Commerce for our contributions to the project. Our work began in January of 2014.  
All work is now complete and was completed within budget and time. The total project cost was 
$5.1 million. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Frankie Maness & David Cheek 
City Managers 
City of Graham & City of Mebane 

Project Manager: Franz Holt, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Kyle Smith, P.E.  
Asst. Project Engineer: Josh Johnson, P.E. 

Graham—(336)570-6700 
Mebane—(919)563-5901 

Page 84 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 10 

City of Graham—Cherry Lane Lift Station and Force Main 

Graham, North Carolina 

AWCK prepared construction drawings; project specifications, bid documents, and construction 
related services for the Cherry Lane Sewer Lift Station and 18” force main for the City of 
Graham. The station has a capacity of 1.0 mgd average daily flow and can be expanded to 2.0 
mgd in the future. The station wet well is approximately 63 feet in depth. The force main is 7600 
LF in length and discharges at the Graham waste water treatment plant. In order to reduce project 
cost and attract more bidders the project was bid in two contracts. The force main project 
included a crossing of the Haw River close to Highway 54 and the Lift Station’s depth required 
extensive rock blasting and is strategically designed to provide sewer treatment to southeastern 
Graham, southwestern Mebane, and the Alamance Interstate Corridor Development Zone. The 
total project cost was approximately $3.0 million. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Chris Rollins 
Former City Manager  
City of Graham 

Project Manager: Darrell Russell, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Mark Averette, P.E. 

(919)563-5901 

Completion Date: 2007 

Page 85 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 11 

City of Mebane—North Regional Lift Station and Force Main Replacement 

Mebane, North Carolina 

AWCK provided construction drawings, specifications and bid documents, and construction 
related services for the City of Mebane’s North Regional Lift Station and Force Main 
Replacement project.  The project consists of relocating, replacing, and upgrading the previous 
lift station to a 1730 GPM capacity lift station and installation of approximately 14,000 lf of 
force main from station to the wastewater treatment plant.  The project was completed in 2013 
and included paralleling an existing 16” sanitary sewer line, vast amounts of rock for both the lift 
station and force main installation, coordination with the contractor for constraints related to 
school traffic, residential neighborhoods, and boring under the NC Rail Road. The total project 
cost was approximately $3.3 million and was within budget. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. David Cheek 
City Manager  
City of Mebane 

Project Manager: Darrell Russell, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Mark Averette, P.E. 

106 East Washington Street 
Mebane, N.C.  27302 

 (919)563-5901 

Page 86 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 12 

Town of Haw River—Primary Pump Station and Force Main Replacement 

Haw River, North Carolina 

AWCK provided construction drawings, specifications and bid documents, and construction 
related services for replacement of the Town’s Primary Pump Station on the edge of the Haw 
River. The project consisted of  relocating the existing pump station out of the 100 year 
floodplain (and beyond the 500 year floodplain as well), building a new pump station for the 1.2 
MGD station installing 2,500 GPM pumps and providing standby power to the pump station. 
AWCK also worked with several permitting agencies and the USDA to coordinate funding. The 
replacement pump station has also reduced the possibility of sanitary sewer overflows and was 
completed in 2012. The project cost was approximately $1.4 million and was completed within 
budget. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Jeff Earp 
Town Manager  
Tow of Haw River 

Project Manager: Darrell Russell, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Mark Averette, P.E. 

403 East Main Street 
Haw River, NC 
 (336)578-0784 

Completion Date: 2012 

Page 87 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 13 

City of Burlington—Whitsett Lift Station Renovation 

Burlington, North Carolina 

AWCK worked with the City of Burlington to complete Preliminary Engineering Report for the 
renovating the Whitsett Lift Station and then provided design, construction drawings, and is in 
the process of providing specifications for the upgrading and renovating the Lift Station. The 
project consisted of fully renovating the duplex 105 GPM pump station while also planning and 
designing for future expansion of the Lift Station. Design of the Lift Station has recently been 
completed and project specifications are being prepared currently. The project is expected to be 
bid and constructed in fiscal year 2015-2016. The estimated project costs are $500,000. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Bob Patterson, P.E. 
Water Resources Director 
City of Burlington 

Project Manager: Franz Holt, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Mark Averette, P.E. 

(336) 222-5130 

Design Date:  2015 

Page 88 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 14 

e. Project References

Alley, Williams, Carmen & King has provided engineering services for water and sewer 
projects for the following governmental entities in North Carolina: 

NAME CONTACT PERSON TELEPHONE 
City of Graham Frankie Maness, Manager 336-570-6700 
City of Graham Victor Quick, Utilities 

Director 
336-570-6721 

City of Graham Ladd Nall, Water & Sewer 336-570-6709 
City of Mebane David Cheek, Manager 919-563-5901 

City of Burlington Bob Patterson, P.E. Water 
Resources Director 

336-222-5050 

Town of Haw River Jeff Earp, Manager 336-578-0784 
Town of Gibsonville Ben Baxley, Manager 336-449-4144 
Town of Rural Hall Frank James, Manager 336-969-6856 
Village of Alamance Ben York, Village Clerk 336-226-0033 
City of Kannapolis Wilmer Melton, Director of 

Public Works 
704-938-5133 

Town of Swepsonville Raymond Herring, Mayor 336-578-2510 
Town of Yanceyville Brian Collie, Manager 336-694-5431 
City of Thomasville Morgan Huffman, Public 

Services Director 
336-475-4222 

City of Mebane Chris Rollins, Assistant 
Manager 

919-563-5901 

Town of Elon Richard White, III , Manager 336-584-3600 
Town of Liberty Roy Lynch, Town Manager 336-622-4276 

Page 89 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 

Appendix 

f. Certificate of Insurance for City of Graham

Page 90 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 

g. Business License

Page 91 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Boyd Creek San. Sewer Lift Station Replacement_protected.docx 

h. Standard Contract

To view the sample contract, please click on the icon below. 

GrahamAgreement 
for Engineering-Boyd C 

Page 92 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 1 of 14 

STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

OWNER AND ENGINEER FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA COUNTY OF ALAMANCE 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this        day of                      , 2015, by and 
between the City of Graham, a North Carolina Municipal Corporation (hereinafter called the 
"OWNER") and Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc., a North Carolina Corporation located in 
Burlington, North Carolina (hereinafter called the "ENGINEER"). 

WHEREAS, the OWNER intends to secure engineering services related to the design 
and construction of Roadway Improvements that include the Extension of Melville 
Commerce Parkway from its current end to Governor Scott Farm Road and estimated to 
cost approximately $2.0 million; hereinafter referred to as the Project, and 

WHEREAS, the OWNER and ENGINEER in consideration of their mutual covenants, 
herein agree in respect of the performance of professional engineering services by ENGINEER 
and the payment for those services by OWNER as set forth below. 

SECTION 1 - BASIC SERVICES OF ENGINEER 

1.1. General 

1.1.1. ENGINEER shall provide for OWNER professional engineering services in all phases of 
the Project to which this Agreement applies as hereinafter provided. These services will 
include serving as OWNER's professional engineering representative for the Project, 
providing professional engineering consultation and advice and furnishing customary 
civil, structural, mechanical and electrical engineering services and customary 
architectural services incidental thereto. 

1.2. Final Design Phase. 

1.2.1. On the basis of the accepted previously prepared preliminary design documents 
(attached exhibit A.) and the opinion of probable total project costs (attached exhibit B), 
prepare for the incorporation in the Contract Documents final drawings to show the 
general scope, extent and character of the work to be furnished and performed by 
Contractor(s) (hereinafter call "Drawings") and specifications. 

1.2.2. Provide technical criteria, written descriptions and design data for OWNER's use in filing 
applications for permits with or obtaining approvals of such governmental authorities as 
have jurisdiction to approve the design of the Project, and assist OWNER in 
consultations with appropriate authorities and to assist in the preparation of grant or loan 
applications when requested by the Owner. 

1.2.3. Advise OWNER of any adjustments to the latest opinion of probable Total Project Costs 
caused by changes in general scope, extent or character or design requirements of the 
Project or Construction Costs. Furnish to OWNER a revised opinion of probable Total 
Project Costs based on the Drawings and Specifications. 

Page 93 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 2 of 14 

1.2.4. Prepare for review and approval by OWNER, its legal counsel and other advisors 
contract agreement forms, general conditions and supplementary conditions and (where 
appropriate) bid forms, invitations to bid and instructions to bidders and assist in the 
preparation of other related documents. 

1.2.5. Furnish copies of the above documents, the Drawings and Specifications and present 
and review them in person with OWNER or representative. 

1.2.6. Aid the OWNER in obtaining all necessary permits from N.C. Department of 
Environment and Natural Resources and approvals from the N. C. Department of 
Transportation. 

1.2.7. Develop an Erosion Control Plan and aid the OWNER in obtaining the Sedimentation 
and Erosion Control Permit from N.C. Dept. of Environment and Natural Resources. 

1.2.8. Furnish right-of-way and easement maps for recording, including all surveying and 
design relating thereto. Assist owner in acquiring right-of-way and easements as 
directed by Owner. 

1.2.9. Advise OWNER if additional data or services are necessary and assist the OWNER in 
obtaining such data or services. This may include the identification of regulatory 
wetlands, the preparation of environmental permits, and the preparation of storm water 
permits. 

1.3. Bidding or Negotiating Phase. 

1.3.1. Assist OWNER in advertising for and obtaining bids or negotiating proposals for each 
separate prime contract for construction, materials, equipment and services; and, where 
applicable, maintain a record of prospective bidders to whom Bidding Documents have 
been issued, attend pre-bid conferences and receive and process deposits for Bidding 
Documents. 

1.3.2. Issue addenda as appropriate to interpret, clarify or expand the Bidding Documents. 

1.3.3. Consult with and advise OWNER as to the acceptability of subcontractors, suppliers and 
other persons and organizations proposed by the prime contractor(s) (hereinafter called 
"Contractor(s)") for those portions of the work as to which such acceptability is required 
by the Bidding Documents. 

1.3.4. Consult with OWNER concerning and determine the acceptability of substitute materials 
and equipment proposed by Contractor(s) when substitution prior to the award of 
contracts is allowed by the Bidding Documents. 

1.3.5. Attend the bid opening, prepare bid tabulation sheets and assist OWNER in evaluating 
bids or proposals and in assembling and awarding contracts for construction, materials, 
equipment and services. 

1.4. Construction Phase (During the Construction Phase). 

1.4.1. General Administration of Construction Contract. ENGINEER shall consult with and 
advise OWNER and act as OWNER's representative as provided in the Standard 
General Conditions. The extent and limitations of the duties, responsibilities and 
authority of ENGINEER as assigned in said Standard General Conditions shall not be 

Page 94 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 3 of 14 

modified, except as ENGINEER may otherwise agree in writing. All of OWNER's 
instructions to Contractor(s) will be issued through ENGINEER who will have authority to 
act on behalf of OWNER to the extent provided in said Standard General Conditions 
except as otherwise provided in writing. 

1.4.2. Visits to Site and Observation of Construction. In connection with observations of the 
work of Contractor(s) while work is in progress. 

1.4.2.1. ENGINEER shall make visits to the site at intervals appropriate to the various 
stages of construction as ENGINEER deems necessary in order to observe as an 
experienced and qualified design professional the progress and quality of the various 
aspects of Contractor(s) work. In addition, ENGINEER shall provide the services of an 
Inspector (and assistants as agreed) at the site to assist ENGINEER and to provide 
necessary observation of such work. Based on information obtained during such visits 
and on such observations, ENGINEER shall endeavor to determine in general if such 
work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents and ENGINEER shall 
keep OWNER informed of the progress of the work. 

1.4.2.2. The Inspector (and any assistants) will be ENGINEER'S agent or employee and 
under ENGINEER'S supervision. 

1.4.2.3. The purpose of ENGINEER's visits to and representation by the Inspector (and 
assistants, if any) at the site will be to enable ENGINEER to determine if the Contractor’s 
work is in substantial compliance with the Contract Documents. On the other hand, 
ENGINEER shall not, during such visits or as a result of such observations of 
Contractor(s)' work have authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures of construction selected by Contractor(s) to 
comply with laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes or orders applicable to 
Contractor(s) nor assume responsibility for Contractor(s)' failure to furnish and perform 
their work in accordance with the Contract documents. 

1.4.3. Defective Work. During such visits and on the basis of such observations, ENGINEER 
may disapprove of or reject Contractor(s)' work while it is in progress if ENGINEER 
believes that such work will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the 
Contract Documents or that the defective work will prejudice the integrity of the design 
concept of the Project as reflected in the Contract Documents. 

1.4.4. Interpretations and Clarifications. ENGINEER shall issue necessary interpretations and 
clarifications of the Contract Documents and in connection therewith prepare work 
directive changes and change orders as required. 

1.4.5. Shop Drawings. ENGINEER shall review and approve (or take other appropriate action 
in respect of) Shop Drawings (as that term is defined in the aforesaid Standard General 
Conditions), samples and other data which Contractor(s) are required to submit, but only 
for conformance with the design concept of the reviews and approvals or other action 
shall not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of 
construction or to safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

1.4.6. Substitutes. ENGINEER shall evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute 
materials and equipment proposed by Contractor(s), but subject to the provision of 
paragraph 2.2.2. 

Page 95 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 4 of 14 

1.4.6.1. Inspections and Tests. ENGINEER shall have authority, as OWNER's 
representative, to require special inspection or testing of the work, and shall receive and 
review all certificates of inspections, testing, and approvals required by laws, rules, 
regulations, ordinances, codes, orders or the Contract Documents (but only to determine 
that their content complies with the requirements of, and the results certified indicate 
compliance with, the Contract Documents.) 

1.4.6.2. Disputes between OWNER and Contractor. ENGINEER shall act as initial 
interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and judge of the acceptability 
of the work thereunder and make decisions on all claims of OWNER and Contractor(s) 
relating to the acceptability of the work or the interpretation of the requirements of the 
Contract Documents pertaining to the execution and progress of the work. ENGINEER 
shall not be liable for the results of any such interpretations or decisions rendered in 
good faith. 

1.4.6.3. Applications for Payment. Based on ENGINEER's on-site observations as an 
experienced and qualified design professional, on information provided by the Inspector 
and on review of applications for payment and the accompanying data and schedules: 

1.4.6.4. ENGINEER shall determine the amounts owing to Contractor(s) and recommend 
in writing payments to Contractor(s) in such amounts. Such recommendations of 
payment will constitute a representation to OWNER, based on such observations and 
review, that the work has progressed to the point indicated, and that, to the best of the 
ENGINEER's knowledge, information and belief, the quality of such work is in 
accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of such work as a 
functioning whole prior to or upon the Contract Documents and to any other 
qualifications stated in the recommendation). In the case of unit price work, 
ENGINEER's recommendations of payment will include final determinations of quantities 
and classifications of such work (subject to any subsequent adjustments allowed by the 
Contract Documents). 

1.4.6.5. By recommending any payment ENGINEER will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that exhaustive, continuous or detailed reviews or examinations have been 
made by ENGINEER to check the quality or quantity of Contractor(s)' work as it is 
furnished and performed beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to ENGINEER 
in this Agreement and the Contract Documents. ENGINEER's review of Contractor(s)' 
work for the purposes of recommending payments will not impose on ENGINEER 
responsibility to supervise, direct or control such work or for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto or Contractor(s)' compliance with laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, 
codes or orders applicable to their furnishing and performing the work. It will also not 
impose responsibility of ENGINEER to make any examination to ascertain how or for 
what purposes any Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract 
Price, or to determine that title to any of the work, materials or equipment has passed to 
OWNER free and clear of any lien, claims, security interests or encumbrances, or that 
there may not be other matters at issue between OWNER and CONTRACTOR that 
might affect the amount that should be paid. 

1.4.7. Contractor(s)' Completion Documents. ENGINEER shall receive and review 
maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds and certificates 
of inspection, tests and approvals which are to be assembled by Contractor(s)' in 
accordance with the Contract Documents (but such review will only be to determine that 

Page 96 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 5 of 14 

their content complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of 
inspection, tests and approvals the results certified indicate compliance with, the 
Contract Documents(s); and shall transmit them to OWNER with written comments. 

1.4.8. Inspections. ENGINEER shall conduct an inspection to determine if the work is 
substantially complete and a final inspection to determine if the completed work is 
acceptable so that ENGINEER may recommend, in writing, final payment to 
Contractor(s)' and may give written notice to OWNER and the Contractor(s)' that the 
work is acceptable (subject to any conditions therein expressed), but any such 
recommendation and notice will be subject to the limitations expressed in paragraph 
1.4.6.5. 

1.4.9. Limitation of Responsibilities. ENGINEER shall not be responsible for the acts or 
omissions of any Contractor, or of any subcontractor or supplier, or any of the 
Contractor(s)' or subcontractor(s)' or supplier(s)' agents or employees or any other 
persons (except ENGINEER's own employees and agents) at the site or otherwise 
furnishing or performing any of the Contractor(s)' work; however, nothing contained in 
paragraphs 1.4.1 through 1.4.8 inclusive, shall be construed to release ENGINEER from 
liability for failure to properly perform duties and responsibilities assumed by ENGINEER 
in the Contract Documents. 

1.4.10. Construction Staking. Engineer shall provide construction staking. 

1.5. Operational Phase. 

During the Operational Phase, ENGINEER shall, when requested by OWNER: 

1.5.1. Provide assistance in the closing of any financial or related transaction for the Project 
including Grants. 

1.5.2. Provide assistance in connection with certification of roadway improvements. 

1.5.3. Prepare a set of reproducible record prints of Drawings showing those changes made 
during the construction process, based on the marked-up prints, drawings and other 
data furnished by Contractor(s)' to ENGINEER and which ENGINEER considers 
significant. 

1.5.4. In company with OWNER, visit the Project to observe any apparent defects in the 
completed construction, assist OWNER in consultations and discussions with 
Contractor(s)' concerning correction of such deficiencies, and make recommendations 
as to replacement or correction of defective work. 

SECTION 2 - ADDITIONAL SERVICES OF ENGINEER 

2.1 Services Requiring Authorization in Advance. 

If authorized in writing by OWNER, ENGINEER shall furnish or obtain from others 
Additional Services of the types listed in paragraphs 2.1.1. through 2.1.12., inclusive. 
These services are not included as part of Basic Services and these will be paid for by 
OWNER as indicated in Section 5. 

2.1.1. Preparation or review of environmental assessments and impact statements; review and 
evaluation of the effect on the design requirements of the Project of any such statements 

Page 97 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 6 of 14 

and documents prepared by others; and assistance in obtaining approvals of authorities 
having jurisdiction over the anticipated environmental impact of the Project. 

2.1.2. Services to make measured drawings of or to investigate existing conditions or facilities, 
or to verify the accuracy of drawings or other information furnished by OWNER. 

2.1.3. Services resulting from significant changes in the general scope, extent or character of 
the Project or its design including, but not limited to, changes in size, complexity, 
OWNER's schedule, character of construction or method of financing; and revising 
previously accepted studies, reports, design documents or Contract Documents when 
such revisions are required by changes in laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes 
enacted subsequent to the preparation of such studies, reports or documents, or are due 
to any other causes beyond ENGINEER's control. 

2.1.4. Providing renderings or models for OWNER's use. 

2.1.5. Preparing documents for alternate bids requested by OWNER for Contractor(s)' work 
which is not executed or documents for out-of-sequence work. 

2.1.6. Investigations and studies involving, but not limited to, detailed consideration of 
operations, maintenance and overhead expenses; providing value engineering during 
the course of design; the preparation of feasibility studies, cash flow and economic 
evaluations, rate schedules and appraisals; assistance in obtaining financing for the 
Project; evaluating processes available for licensing and assisting OWNER in obtaining 
process licensing; detailed quantity surveys of material, equipment and labor; and audits 
or inventories required in connection with construction performed by OWNER. 

2.1.7. Furnishing services of independent professional associates and consultants for other 
than Basic Services (which include, but are not limited to, customary civil, structural, 
mechanical and electrical engineering and customary architectural design incidental 
thereto). This section includes the services from professionals identifying regulatory 
wetlands and submitting permits relating thereto. 

2.1.8. Services during out-of-town travel required of ENGINEER other than visits to the site or 
OWNER's office as required by Section 1. 

2.1.9. Assistance in connection with bid protests, rebidding or renegotiating contracts for 
construction, materials, equipment or services. 

2.1.10. Preparation of operating, maintenance and staffing manuals. 

2.1.11. Preparing to serve or serving as a consultant or witness for OWNER in any litigation 
involving the Project. 

2.1.12. Additional services in connection with the Project, including services which are to be 
furnished by OWNER in accordance with Article 3, and services not otherwise provided 
for in this Agreement. 

Page 98 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 7 of 14 

2.2. Required Additional Services. 

When required by the Contract Documents in circumstances beyond ENGINEER's 
control, ENGINEER shall furnish or obtain from others, as circumstances require during 
construction and without waiting for specific authorization from OWNER, Additional 
Services of the types listed in paragraphs 2.2.1. through 2.2.6., inclusive. These services 
are not included as part of Basic Services. ENGINEER shall advise OWNER promptly 
after starting any such additional services which will be paid for by OWNER as indicated 
in Section 5. 

2.2.1. Services in connection with work directive changes and change orders to reflect 
changes requested by OWNER if the resulting change in compensation for Basic 
Services is not commensurate with the additional services rendered. 

2.2.2. Services in making revisions to Drawings and Specifications occasioned by the 
acceptance of substitutions proposed by Contractor(s)'; and services after the award of 
each contract in evaluating and determining the acceptability of an unreasonable or 
excessive number of substitutions proposed by Contractor. 

2.2.3. Services resulting from significant delays, changes or price increases occurring as a 
direct or indirect result of material, equipment or energy shortages. 

2.2.4. Additional or extended services during construction made necessary by (1) work 
damaged by fire or other cause during construction, (2) a significant amount of defective 
or neglected work of any Contractor, (3) acceleration of the progress schedule involving 
services beyond normal working hours, and (4) default by any Contractor. 

2.2.5. Services (other than Basic Services during the Operational Phase) in connection with 
any partial utilization of any part of the Project by OWNER prior to Substantial 
Completion. 

2.2.6. Evaluating an unreasonable or extensive number of claims submitted by Contractor(s)' 
or others in connection with the work. 

SECTION 3 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

OWNER shall do the following in a timely manner so as not to delay the services of ENGINEER. 

3.1 Designate in writing a person to act as OWNER's representative with respect to the 
services to be rendered under this Agreement. Such person shall have complete 
authority to transmit instructions, receive information, interpret and define OWNER's 
policies and decisions with respect to ENGINEER's services for the Project. 

3.2. Provide all criteria and full information as to OWNER's requirements for the Project, 
including design objectives and constraints, space, capacity and performance 
requirements, flexibility and expandability, and any budgetary limitations; and furnish 
copies of all design and construction standards which OWNER will require to be 
included in the Drawings and Specifications. 

3.3. Assist ENGINEER by placing at ENGINEER's disposal all available information pertinent 
to the Project including previous reports and any other data relative to design or 
construction of the Project. 

Page 99 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 8 of 14 

3.4. Arrange for access to and make all provisions for ENGINEER to enter upon public and 
private property as required for ENGINEER to perform services under this Agreement. 

3.5. Examine all studies, reports, sketches, drawings, Specifications, proposals and other 
documents presented by ENGINEER, obtain advice of an attorney, insurance counselor 
and other consultants as OWNER deem appropriate for such examination and render in 
writing decisions pertaining thereto within a reasonable time so as not to delay the 
services of ENGINEER. 

3.6. Provide such accounting, independent cost estimating and insurance counseling 
services as may be required for the Project, such legal services and OWNER may 
require or Engineer may reasonably request with regard to legal issues pertaining to the 
Project including any that may be raised by Contractor(s)', such auditing service as 
OWNER may require to ascertain how or for what purpose any Contractor has used the 
moneys paid under the construction contract, and such inspection services as OWNER 
may require to ascertain that Contractor(s)' are complying with any law, rule, regulation, 
ordinance, code or other applicable to their furnishing and performing the work. 

3.7. If OWNER designates a person to represent OWNER at the site who is not ENGINEER 
or ENGINEER's agent or employee, the duties, responsibilities and limitations of 
authority of such other person and the affect thereof on the duties and responsibilities of 
ENGINEER and the Inspector (and any assistants) will be set forth in an exhibit that is to 
be identified, attached to and made a part of this Agreement before such services begin. 

3.8. Furnish to ENGINEER data or estimated figures as to OWNER's anticipated costs for 
services to be provided by others for OWNER (such as services pursuant to paragraphs 
3.5 through 3.7, inclusive) so that ENGINEER may make the necessary findings to 
support opinions of probable total project cost. 

3.9. Attend the pre-bid conference, bid opening, pre-construction conferences, construction 
progress and other job related meetings and substantial completion inspections and final 
payment inspections. 

3.10. Give prompt written notice to ENGINEER whenever OWNER observes or otherwise 
becomes aware of any development that affects the scope or timing of ENGINEER's 
services, or any defect or nonconformance in the work of any Contractor. 

3.11. Furnish, or direct ENGINEER to provide, Additional Services as stipulated in paragraph 
2.1. of this Agreement or other services as required. 

3.12. Bear all costs incident to compliance with the requirements of this Section 3. 

SECTION 4 – PERIODS OF SERVICE 

4.1 The provisions of this Section 4 and the various rates of compensation for ENGINEER's 
services provided for elsewhere in this Agreement have been agreed upon in 
anticipation of the orderly and continuous progress of the Project through completion of 
the Construction Phase. ENGINEER's obligation to render services hereunder will 
extend for a period which may reasonably be required for the design, award of contracts, 
construction and initial operation of the Project including extra work and required 
extensions thereto. 

Page 100 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 9 of 14 

4.2. Upon authorization from OWNER, ENGINEER shall proceed with the performance of the 
service called for in the Final design Phase; and shall deliver Contract Documents and 
an opinion of probable Total Project Costs for all work of Contractor(s) on the Project. 

4.3. ENGINEER's services under the Final Design Phase shall each be considered complete 
at the earlier of (1) the date when the submissions for that phase have been accepted by 
OWNER or (2) thirty days after the date when such submissions are delivered to 
OWNER for final acceptance, plus in each case such additional time as may be 
considered reasonable for obtaining approval of governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction to approve the design of the Project. 

4.4. After acceptance by OWNER of the ENGINEER's Drawings, Specifications and other 
Final Design Phase documentation including the most recent opinion of probable Total 
Project Costs and upon authorization to proceed, ENGINEER shall proceed with 
performance of the services called for in the Bidding or Negotiating Phase. This Phase 
shall terminate and the services to be rendered thereunder shall be considered complete 
upon commencement of the Construction Phase or upon cessation of negotiations with 
prospective Contractor(s). 

4.5. The Construction Phase will commence with the execution of the first prime contract to 
be executed for the work of the Project or any part thereof, and will terminate upon 
written recommendation by Engineer of final payment on the last prime contract to be 
completed. Construction Phase services may be rendered at different times in respect of 
separate prime contracts if the Project involves more than one prime contract. 

4.6. The Operational Phase will commence during the Construction Phase and will terminate 
one year after the date of Substantial Completion of the last prime contract for 
construction, materials and equipment on which substantial completion is achieved. 

4.7. If OWNER has requested significant modifications or changes in the general scope, 
extent or character of the Project, the time of performance of ENGINEER's services shall 
be adjusted equitably. 

4.8. If OWNER fails to give prompt authorization to proceed with any phase of services after 
completion of the immediately preceding phase, or if the Construction Phase has not 
commenced within 180 calendar days after completion of the Final Design Phase, 
ENGINEER may, after giving seven days written notice to OWNER, suspend services 
under this Agreement. 

4.9. In the event that the work designed or specified by ENGINEER is to be furnished or 
performed under more than one prime contract, or if ENGINEER's services are to be 
separately sequenced with the work of one or more prime contractors (such as in the 
case of fast-tracking), OWNER and ENGINEER shall, prior to commencement of the 
Final Design Phase, develop a schedule for performance of ENGINEER's services 
during the Final Design, Bidding or Negotiating and Construction Phases in order to 
sequence and coordinate properly such services as are applicable to the work under 
such separate contracts. 

Page 101 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 10 of 14 

SECTION 5 – PAYMENTS TO THE ENGINEER 

5.1 Methods of Payment for Services and Expenses of ENGINEER. 

5.1.1. For all services of ENGINEER under this agreement, payment will be made on an hourly 
rate basis in accordance with the Hourly Rate Charge Schedule attached hereto as 
exhibit C. The following is an estimate of fees anticipated under this agreement: 

a. Final Design           $ 105,000.00 

b. Bidding Phase           $   10,000.00 

c. Construction Phase           $ 110,000.00 

d. Operation Phase           $ 7,500.00 

e. Reimbursable items          $ 2,500.00 

            TOTAL ESTIMATED FEE $ 235,000.00 

5.1.2. For Additional Services. OWNER shall pay ENGINEER for Additional Services rendered 
under Section 2 on an hourly rate basis in accordance with the Hourly Rate Charge 
Schedule or a mutually agreed to price. 

5.1.3. For Reimbursable Expenses. In addition to payments provided for in paragraph 5.1.1, 
OWNER shall pay ENGINEER the actual costs (except where specifically provided 
otherwise) of all Reimbursable Expenses incurred in connection with all Basic and 
Additional Services. 

5.1.4. The terms "Salary Costs" and "Reimbursable Expenses" have the meanings assigned to 
them in paragraph 5.4. 

5.2. Times of Payments. 

5.2.1. ENGINEER shall submit monthly statements for Basic and Additional Services rendered 
and for Reimbursable Expenses incurred. OWNER shall make prompt monthly 
payments in response to ENGINEER's monthly statements. 

5.3. Other Provisions Concerning Payments. 

5.3.1. In the event of termination by OWNER under paragraph 7.1 upon the completion of any 
phase of the Basic Services, progress payments due ENGINEER for services rendered 
through such phase shall constitute total payment for such services. In the event of such 
termination by OWNER during any phase of the Basic Services, ENGINEER also will be 
reimbursed for the charges of independent professional associates and consultants 
employed by ENGINEER to render Basic Services, and paid for services rendered 
during that phase on the basis of ENGINEER's Salary Costs times a factor of 2.0 for 
services rendered during that phase to date of termination by ENGINEER's principals 
and employees engaged directly on the Project. In the event of any such termination, 
ENGINEER will be paid for all unpaid Additional Services and unpaid Reimbursable 
Expenses. 

Page 102 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 11 of 14 

5.3.2. Records of ENGINEER's Salary Costs pertinent to ENGINEER's compensation under 
this Agreement will be kept in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. 
Copies will be made available to OWNER at cost on request prior to final payment for 
ENGINEER's services. 

5.4. Definitions. 

5.4.1. The Salary Costs used as a basis for payment mean salaries and wages (basic and 
incentive) paid to all ENGINEER's personnel engaged directly on the Project, including, 
but not limited to, engineers, architects, surveyors, designers, draftsmen, specification 
writers, estimators, other technical and business personnel; plus the cost of customary 
and statutory benefits including, but not limited to, social security taxes, workers' 
compensation, health and retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay and 
other group benefits. 

5.4.2. Reimbursable Expenses mean the actual expenses incurred by ENGINEER or 
ENGINEER's independent professional associates or consultants directly or indirectly in 
connection with the Project, such as expenses for: obtaining bids or proposals from 
Contractor(s); reproduction of reports, Drawings, Specifications, Bidding Documents and 
similar Project-related items in addition to those required under Section 1; and if 
authorized in advance by OWNER, overtime work requiring higher than regular rates. In 
addition, if authorized in advance by OWNER, Reimbursable Expenses will also include 
expenses incurred for computer time and other highly specialized equipment, including 
an appropriate charge for previously established programs and expenses of 
photographic production techniques times a factor of 1.10. 

SECTION 6 – CONSTRUCTION COST AND OPINIONS OF COST 

6.1 Construction Cost. 

6.1.1. The construction cost of the entire Project (herein referred to as "Construction Cost") 
means the total cost to OWNER of those portions of the entire Project designed and 
specified by ENGINEER, but it will not include ENGINEER's compensation and 
expenses, the cost of land, rights-of-way, or compensation for or damages to, properties 
unless this Agreement so specifies, nor will it include OWNER's legal, accounting, 
insurance counseling or auditing services, or interest and financing charges incurred in 
connection with the Project or the cost of other services to be provided by others to 
OWNER pursuant to paragraphs 3.5 through 3.7, inclusive. 

6.2. Opinions of Cost. 

6.2.1. Since ENGINEER has no control over the cost of labor, materials, equipment or services 
furnished by others, or over the Contractor(s)' methods of determining prices, or over 
competitive bidding or market conditions, ENGINEER's opinions of probable Total 
Project Costs and Construction Cost provided for herein are to be made on the basis of 
ENGINEER's experience and qualifications and represent ENGINEER's best judgment 
as an experienced and qualified professional engineer, familiar with the construction 
industry; but ENGINEER cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual 
Total Project or Construction Costs will not vary from opinions of probable cost prepared 
by ENGINEER. If prior to the Bidding or Negotiating Phase OWNER wishes greater 

Page 103 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 12 of 14 

assurance as to Total Project or Construction Costs, OWNER shall employ an 
independent cost estimator as provided in paragraph 3.6. 

6.2.2. If a Construction Cost limit is established by written agreement between OWNER and 
ENGINEER and specifically set forth in this Agreement as a condition thereto, the 
following will apply: 

6.2.2.1. The acceptance by OWNER at any time during the Basic Services of a revised 
opinion of probable Total Project or Construction Costs in excess of the then established 
cost limit will constitute a corresponding revision in the Construction Cost limit to the 
extent indicated in such revised opinion. 

SECTION 7 - OTHER 

7.1 Termination 

7.1.1. The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated: 

7.1.1.1. By either party upon 30 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by 
the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the 
terminating party. 

7.1.1.2. Upon seven days written notice if ENGINEER believes that ENGINEER is being 
requested by OWNER to furnish or perform services contrary to ENGINEER'S 
responsibilities as a licensed professional; or 

7.1.1.3. Upon seven days written notice if the ENGINEER'S services for the Project are 
delayed or suspended for more than ninety days for reasons beyond ENGINEER'S 
control. 

7.1.1.4. ENGINEER shall have no liability to OWNER on account of such termination. 

7.1.1.5. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate as a result of 
such substantial failure if the party receiving such notice begins, within seven days of 
receipt of such notice, to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure 
such failure within no more than 30 days or receipt thereof; provided that if and to the 
extent such substantial failure cannot be reasonably cured with such 30 day period, and 
if such party has diligently attempted to sure the same and thereafter continues diligently 
to sure the same, then the cure period provided for herein shall extend up to, but in no 
case more than, 60 days after the date of receipt of the notice. 

7.1.1.6. For convenience, by OWNER effective upon the receipt of notice by ENGINEER. 

7.1.2. The terminating party under paragraphs 7.1 may set the effective date of termination at a 
time up to 30 days later than otherwise provided to allow ENGINEER to demobilize 
personnel and equipment from the Site, to complete tasks whose value would otherwise 
be lost, to prepare notes as to the status of completed and uncompleted tasks, and to 
assemble Project materials in orderly files. 

7.2. ENGINEER shall procure and maintain insurance for protection from claims under 
workers' compensation acts, claims for damages because of bodily injury including 
personal injury, sickness or disease or death of any and all employees or of any person 

Page 104 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 13 of 14 

other than such employees, and from claims or damages because of injury to or 
destruction of property including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

7.3. Controlling Law. 

7.3.1. This agreement is to be governed by the law of the STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA. 

7.4. Successors and Assigns. 

7.4.1. OWNER and ENGINEER each is hereby bound and the partners, successors, 
executors, administrators and legal representatives of OWNER and ENGINEER (and to 
the extent permitted by paragraph 7.4.2. the assigns of OWNER and ENGINEER) are 
hereby bound to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, 
executors, administrators and legal representatives (and said assigns) of such other 
party, in respect of all covenants, agreements and obligations of this Agreement. 

7.4.2. Neither OWNER nor ENGINEER shall assign, sublet or transfer any rights under or 
interest in (including, but without limitation, moneys that may become due or moneys 
that are due) this Agreement without the written consent of the other, except to the 
extent that any assignment, subletting or transfer is mandated by law or the effect of this 
limitation may be restricted by law. Unless specifically stated to the contrary in any 
written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor 
from any duty or responsibility under this Agreement. 

7.4.3. Nothing under this Agreement shall be construed to give any rights or benefits in this 
Agreement to anyone other than OWNER and ENGINEER, and all duties and 
responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this Agreement will be for the sole and exclusive 
benefit of OWNER and ENGINEER and not for the benefit of any other party. 

7.5. Disputes. 

7.5.1. All unresolved claims, counterclaims, disputes and other matters in question between 
the parties hereto arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach thereof will be 
decided by the appropriate division of the General Court of Justice unless alternative 
resolution procedures are mutually agreed to between the Parties.  

Page 105 of 167



Owner and Engineer Agreement Page 14 of 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

OWNER: ENGINEER:

Jerry Peterman Franz K. Holt 
Mayor President

WITNESS: WITNESS: 

Darcy Sperry, City Clerk Mark D. Reich, Corporate Treasurer 

Page 106 of 167



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE
NC COMMERCE PARK

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE
NC COMMERCE PARK

WAL-MART
SITE

TU
R

N
ER

 R
O

AD

NC COMMERCE PARK
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE

S.R. 2125

LIDL
SITE

FUTURE ROAD
EXTENSION TO
GOV. SCOTT
FARM ROAD

JI
M

M
Y 

KE
RR

 R
D.

S.R
. 2

12
3

M
EL

VI
LL

E

COMMERCE

END OF
CURRENT ROAD
CONSTRUCTION

INTERSTATE   85/40

PARKWAY

NC HWY. 119

KIMREY RD.

GOV. SCOTT FARM
 RD

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE
NC COMMERCE PARK

S.R. 1981

TROLLINGW
OOD-HAW

FIELDS

INTERSTATE   85/40

INTERSTATE   85/40

END OF
CURRENT ROAD
CONSTRUCTION

TROLLINGW
OOD-HAW

FIELDS

 ROAD

NC HWY. 119NC HWY. 119NC HWY. 119

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE
NC COMMERCE PARK

S.R. 2125

KIMREY RD.

KIMREY RD.

FUTURE ROAD
EXTENSION TO
GOV. SCOTT
FARM ROAD

WAL-MART
SITEGOV. SCOTT FARM

 RD
CHERRY L

ANE

S.R
. 2

12
3

M
EL

VI
LL

E

M
EL

VI
LL

E

COMMERCE PARKWAY

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE
NC COMMERCE PARK

EXIT 150EXIT 150EXIT 150

EXIT 152EXIT 152EXIT 152EXIT 152

TROLLINGW
OOD-HAW

FIELDS

NC HWY. 119

NC COMMERCE PARK
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE

S.R. 2125

KIMREY RD.

S.R. 2124

S.R. 2124

S.R. 2124

FUTURE ROAD
EXTENSION TO
GOV. SCOTT
FARM ROAD

GOV. SCOTT FARM
 RD

COMMERCE

END OF
CURRENT ROAD
CONSTRUCTION

PARKWAY

WAL-MART
SITE

LIDL
SITE

JIM MINOR RD.

W
H

ITE C
T.

TU
R

N
ER

 R
O

AD

1" = 2000'SCALE : SBM7/28/15 1

1
DWG. BYDATE : OF

SHEET NO. :

KIMREY ROAD

N
C

 H
W

Y.
 1

19

HA
W

R
IV

ER

INTERSTATE   85/40 SOUTH

GOV. SCOTT
FARM

 RO
AD

NORTH MINOR   ROAD

HARDEN    ST.

NC HW
Y 54

CHERRY L
ANE

CHER
RY L

AN
E

INTERSTATE   85/40 NORTH

JIM

TO
 N

C H
W

Y 
54

SITES

TRO
LLING

W
O

O
D

 - HAW
FIELDS RO

AD

EXIT 152

Page 107 of 167



MELVILLE COMMERCE PARKWAY EXTENSION 
ESTIMATE OF PROBABLE COST

Estimated Quantity
Clearing & Grubbing
Unclassified Excavation
Undercut
Borrow Fill
30 Inch RCP Storm Drain 
60 Inch CAP Storm Drain
72 Inch CAP Storm Drain
Headwalls 
Guardrail
Guardrail End Treatments
Pavement Base
Pavement Intermediate
Pavement Surface
Striping 
Erosion Control
Seeding & Mulching

Rip Rap
Rock Excavation
Shoulder & Ditch Construction
Construction Sub-Total

Final Design Phase
Bidding Phase

Construction Phase
Operation Phase
Reimbursable Items

Engineering Design & Construction Adminstration Sub-Total
Legal

Contingency

Total Estimated Project Cost

5

110

8
4100
2600
1900

AC
CY
CY
CY
LF
LF
LF
EA

28,800.00$
30,000.00$

234,000.00$
190,000.00$
10,000.00$

LF
EA
TN

21,000.00$
14,000.00$

369,000.00$

10,000.00$

CY
LF

35,000.00$
90,000.00$
18,000.00$
80,000.00$
6,000.00$

20,400.00$

AC

TN

75,000.00$
12,500.00$

5,500.00$

TN
TN

250,000.00$               

2,000,000.00$             

Units Estimated Cost

110,000.00$
7,500.00$
2,500.00$

235,000.00$               
5,000.00$

200,000.00$
70,800.00$

1,510,000.00$             

105,000.00$

4000
8850

Lump Sum
Lump Sum

Exhibit B.

Description
7

22500
2250
8000
120
120
120
12

1400

740 Chapel Hill Road (27215)  -  P.O. Box 1179  -  Burlington, North Carolina 27216 
Tel. - (336) 226-5534   -   Fax – (336) 226-3034   -   awck.com 

ESTABLISHED    -    1960 

alley, williams, carmen & king, inc.
E n g i n e e r i n g      A r c h i t e c t u r e      L a n d  S u r v e y i n g

Page 108 of 167



1. Eng
a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 

2. Arc
a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 

3. Sur
a. 
b. 
c. 

4. Tec
a. 
b. 

5. Sur
a. 
b. 

6. Con

7. Cle

8. Oth

a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 
e. 
f. 

g. 

h. 

740 Cha

HOUR
This 

gineers: 
EI – Eng
Registere
Associat
Principal

chitects: 
Architect
Registere
Associat
Principal

rveyors: 
Surveyor
Registere
Associat

chnical Staff: 
Project M
CADD D

rvey Parties: 
2-Man P
3-Man P

nstruction Obse

erical 

her: 

Employees' o
Professional 
Printing and 
Mileage:  Tr
Overnight or
The above ra
an annual ba
Where range
with the indi
Payment wil

E n g i n e e

apel Hill Road (
Tel. - (336) 

RLY CHA
information is

gineering Intern
ed Professiona
e/Registered P
l/Registered Pr

ts in Training 
ed Architect 
e/Registered A
l/Registered Ar

r in Training 
ed Land Survey
e/Registered L

Manager 
Designer/Techn

arty 
arty 

erver 

overtime (when
Consultants:  
Mailing:  1.10
avel to job site
r extended trav
ates are subject
asis. 
es of hourly cha
ividual perform
l be made mon

e r i n g

(27215)  -  P.O
226-5534   -   F

ESTABL

EXH

ARGE RAT
 confidential a

n 
l Engineer 

Professional En
rofessional Eng

Architect 
rchitect 

yor 
Land Surveyor

nician 

n authorized in
1.10 times the 

0 times the amo
e No Charge, b
vel: 1.10 times 
t to adjustment

arge rates are l
ming the service
nthly based on 

A r c h i t e c

. Box 1179  -  B
Fax – (336) 22

LISHED    -    1

HIBIT 

TE SCHE
nd is intended 

ngineer 
gineer 

n advance):  1.5
amount billed 

ount billed to A
ut time is inclu
the amount bil
t in accordance

listed, the rate c
es. 
invoices subm

c t u r e L

Burlington, Nor
26-3034   -   aw

960 

C 

EDULE – J
for use by the 

50 times Hourl
to AWCK, Inc

AWCK, Inc. 
uded from our 
lled to AWCK,
e with normal s

charged will b

mitted by Alley,

L a n d  S u r v

rth Carolina 27
wck.com 

JULY 1, 2
recipient only

$  70.00 
  100.00 
  115.00 

175.00 

-
- 
-
- 

$  70.00 
   85.00 

  135.00 
165.00 

-
- 
-
- 

$  60.00 
   80.00 
  90.00 

-
- 
- 

$  80.00 
   65.00 

-
- 

$140.00 
 190.00 

-
- 

$  75.00 - 

$  50.00 - 

ly Charge Rate
c. 

office to job si
, Inc. 
salary and rate 

e the actual ch

, Williams, Car

v e y i n g

7216 

015 
y. 

$  90.00/Hr.
130.00/Hr.
145.00/Hr.
195.00/Hr.

$  90.00/Hr.
125.00/Hr.
150.00/Hr.
175.00/Hr.

$  80.00/Hr.
95.00/Hr.

115.00/Hr.

$120.00/Hr.
90.00/Hr.

$155.00/Hr.
205.00/Hr.

$  95.00/Hr.

$  65.00/Hr.

e. 

ite and return.

review practic

harge rate assoc

rmen & King, 

ces on 

ciated 

Inc. 

Page 109 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc. 
Response to Request for Qualifications 

Project: Melville Commerce  
Parkway Extension 

for 
City of Graham 

 

 

July 21, 2015 

alley, williams, carmen, and king, inc. 
Engineering    Architecture    Land Surveying 

740 Chapel Hill Road (27215)  -  P.O. Box 1179  -  Burlington, North Carolina 27216 
Tel. - (336)226-5534   -   Fax – (336)226-3034   -   awck.com 

Page 110 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Letter of Interest 
July 20, 2015 

Mr. Frankie Maness, City Manager 
City of Graham 
P.O. Drawer 357 
201 South Main Street 
Graham, N.C. 27253 

Re: Letter of Interest and Statement of Qualifications for Engineering Services 
Melville Commerce Parkway Extension 

 Graham, N.C. 

Dear Mr. Maness: 

Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc. is pleased to submit this letter of interest with our statement of 
qualifications to the City of Graham for the referenced project.  We believe that we have assembled a 
highly qualified team of professionals that is experienced with roadway construction projects that can 
work with City of Graham to complete a high quality project in a timely manner.  AWCK has a 50 plus 
year history of working with Municipal Governments including the City of Graham, serving as their City 
Engineer and Consultant for many years. We encourage you to contact any of our references provided and 
we believe all of the references will provide you with a positive statement of our qualifications and 
abilities. 

We feel that by selecting our firm, the City of Graham will have the full depth of our resources available 
to them, including our experienced personnel. Our knowledge of the current project needs is demonstrated 
with the design and associated environmental permitting for the first section of Melville Commerce 
Parkway and the functional design of the proposed extension. Our project approach will effectively 
address all aspects of the project from the preliminary planning, final design, bidding, and the 
administration and inspection of the roadway improvements.  In addition, our day to day working 
relationship with City of Graham personnel along with their project partners (the City of Mebane and 
Alamance County) and local NCDOT personnel will allow us to communicate with those who are tasked 
with completing the project and those who will be responsible for future acceptance and maintenance of 
the roadway improvements, so that the City of Graham’s unique needs are met. 

In closing, we thank you for the opportunity to present our letter of interest and this statement of 
qualifications.  Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at (336) 226-5534 or 
fholt@awck.com. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Franz K. Holt, P.E. 

Page 111 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Table of Contents 

Letter of Interest ................................................................................................................................. 
Executive Summary .........................................................................................................................4 
a. Project Approach and Schedule ...................................................................................................5

Project Approach .....................................................................................................................5 
Project Schedule .......................................................................................................................7 

b. Experience of Proposed Personnel...............................................................................................8
c. Availability of Proposed Personnel ............................................................................................11

Organizational Depth .............................................................................................................11 
Availability of Key Personnel ................................................................................................12 

d. Experience and Demonstrated Quality of Performance .............................................................13
North Carolina Department of Transportation & Cities of Graham and Mebane —Melville 
Commerce Parkway Improvements Phase I & II...................................................................13 
City of Burlington—Edgewood Avenue & Shadowbrook Drive Intersection Improvements14 
City of Burlington—South Church Street & Fifth Street Intersection Improvements ..........15 
Town of Kernersville-Piney Grove Road Widening..............................................................16 
Town of Walkertown—NC Highway 66 & US 158 Intersection Improvements ..................17 

e. Project References ......................................................................................................................18
Appendix ............................................................................................................................................ 

f. Certificate of Insurance, Business License and NCDOT Certifications.................................
g. Standard Contract ...................................................................................................................

Page 112 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 4 

Executive Summary 
Alley, Williams, Carmen & King, Inc. is located in Burlington, N.C. and is an engineering, architecture, 
and surveying company that has been providing continuous service in the Alamance County area (and 
beyond) for over 60 years. Our earliest association with the Town of Graham (later as the City of 
Graham) is from the 1950’s when the company provided engineering services on various water, sewer, 
and street projects. That association has continued to the present time with similar services being 
provided. 

The City of Graham is soliciting letters of interest for consulting engineering services related to the design 
and construction of Melville Commerce Parkway Extension in the NC Commerce Park. We are very 
familiar with Melville Commerce Parkway having completed the preliminary planning, environmental 
permitting and design of the current roadway improvements.  In addition, we have completed a functional 
design of the extension from where it currently ends to Governor Scott Farm Road.  We also provided 
assistance to the City of Graham in obtaining a NC Economic Infrastructure Program Grant for the 
proposed extension. We are pleased to provide this statement of qualifications as requested by the City. 

The Melville Commerce Parkway Extension is located within the NC Commerce Park Economic 
Development Zone and will serve as a connector from the existing Melville Commerce Parkway to Gov. 
Scott Farm Road. This project is unique in that environmental impacts within the approximate 1,200 acre 
zone are lumped together under the same environmental permits. We understand and have experienced 
the challenging permitting and design process with the current roadway improvements and will apply that 
knowledge to provide the City of Graham with a successful project.  

This extension includes the construction of approximately 4,425 feet of 24’ wide paved roadway to an 
industrial level section and also crosses one environmentally sensitive area. The environmentally sensitive 
area was previously permitted with the existing roadway and the design will have special considerations 
that will be addressed to maintain compliance with environmental permits. The extension is estimated to 
cost approximately $2,000,000. This work will coincide with adjacent and ongoing construction on the 
Wal-Mart and Lidl sites as well as improvements being made to Gov. Scott Farm Road.  

AWCK is well qualified to provide the requested services. We have significant experience with roadway 
design and construction. Furthermore, our project team has many years of experience to draw upon to 
provide you with a quality project. 

Our services under this project will include the following: 

1. Preliminary Design – meetings, subsurface investigation (as needed), identifying environmental
features (as needed), finalizing design, all in order to produce the final design documents

2. Construction Documents – Final Drawings and Specifications with Bid Documents

3. Pre-Construction Services -  Permits, Grant related items, Easements (as needed)

4. Construction Administration – Notice of Award, Shop Drawing Approval, Notice to Proceed,
Inspection of work, Change Orders (as needed), Pay Application Review, Construction Stakeout,
and Project Certification and Close Out along with our Assistance of the Grant(s) Administration

AWCK provides these types of service daily, as we have completed numerous similar type projects for 
the City of Graham, other Municipalities, and Private Development.  It is our goal that our project team 
will assist the City by helping them to receive a quality project, on schedule, and within the funds allotted. 
We are ready to proceed upon your notice as we have the personnel available to meet your needs. 

Page 113 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 5 

a. Project Approach and Schedule

Project Approach 
We have developed the following project approach for the Melville Commerce Parkway Extension.  We 
plan to address all aspects of the project while using our most qualified and experienced personnel in 
order to meet the City of Graham’s unique needs. 

A.  Planning and Design Phase 
1. Establish a pre design planning meeting where

the following items are reviewed and discussed:
a) Preliminary Functional Design and

Anticipated Project Costs
b) Known environmental features and

associated permits
c) Latest flood plain data available
d) Location of existing and future utilities

(horizontal and vertical)
e) Identify review agencies
f) Recognition of the ongoing work with the

Wal-Mart and Lidl sites
g) Identify encroachment agreements, right-of-

way, and easements that are needed.
h) Property survey topographic and property boundaries
i) Identify any access issues for construction
j) Subsurface Evaluation for suitable soil and possible rock

2. Where easements and right of way are required, notify property owners explaining the project and
seek permission to survey on their property.

3. Upon receiving permission to survey from the City and or adjacent property owners, we will a
have a utility locate completed.  While this work is ongoing we do a topographic survey of the
project limits and utilities (environmental features were delineated and mapped as part of the
current roadway and utilities projects).  Once completed, we will prepare a recommended final
plan with all potential impacts to utilities, adjacent properties, environmental features, and flood
plain all being identified.  At this stage we will have our subsurface consultant do borings to
determine if rock is present at proposed cut locations along the proposed roadway and also
determine if suitable soils are present along the roadway and stockpile location.  Where possible,
our design will minimize impacts adverse impacts and conflicts.

4. Once the City and NCDOT approves the preliminary design, we will then move forward with
completion of the construction drawings, permitting, and specifications with bid documents.  We
anticipate review meetings with the City and NCDOT to review the progress and to make project
decisions as needed.  We will also finalize the approval agency list which may include NCDOT –
hydraulics, encroachment, and plan approval, NCDENR – Erosion Control Plan Approval and
Land Disturbance Permit, NCDENR and USACE for Nationwide permitting of stream crossings
and buffer disturbance (if needed due to proposed environmental impacts changes from previous
permits).

5. Where easements and right of way are needed, we will prepare easement maps, deed descriptions,
and offers (we have most recently been using fair market value as determined by the County Tax
Department for the value of the easement and right of way offering 100% of the value for right of
way, 75% of the value for perm. easements, and 25% of the value for temp. easements).

Page 114 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 6 

Opportunity will be given for property owners to donate right-of-way and easements. Once 
approved by the City, we or the City will mail these items to each property owner.  Once 
acceptance of the offers have been made and returned, the City will arrange a time to execute the 
easements and right of way (signatures, notarize, and payment).  The easements and right of way 
will then be recorded.  Any offer not returned within 10 days will prompt a phone call to the 
property owner to discuss the easement further.  If terms cannot be agreed to then the City may 
have to move forward with other available means of obtaining the easement. 

6. Prior to going to bid with the construction of the project, any remaining items associated with the
Grants received must be addressed (as prior work is not an eligible expense).

B. Bidding and Construction Phase 
1. Once the construction drawings and bid documents have been approved, the project will be

placed out for bid.  The project will be advertised in the local newspaper and posted on various
web sites for Minority or Disadvantaged Business participation.  The advertisement for bid will
be developed with the City and include a pre-bid conference date, bid date, location of bid
opening, list of bonds required, scope of the project, etc.  We will also e-mail the copy of
advertisement to contractors.  We will also contact contractors throughout the bidding process to
try to gauge the bidding climate.  In addition, we will prepare a pre-bid estimate based on the
final design documents.

2. Upon receiving favorable bids, we will make a recommendation for contract award to the City.
The recommendation will be for the low responsive/responsible bidder and will be subject to any
remaining approvals, easements, or right of ways to be obtained.

3. Once the contract is awarded and final approvals, easements, and right of ways have been
obtained, we will forward the contracts to the contractor for execution. At that time, we will also
ask the contractor to provide shop drawings.

4. Upon receipt of the contracts from the contractor, we will call for a preconstruction conference
which will include all interested parties and the project documents will be reviewed with the
contractor with discussion of expectations and any project concerns (environmental, property
owner related, utility, access or other).  In addition, we will establish progress meetings on site.

5. Once the contracts are executed and shop drawings are approved, we will provide the contractor
with the notice to proceed with the completion date being established.

6. We anticipate inspecting the project daily (part time).  We will make daily field reports and alert
the City to any project concerns when they occur.

7. Rock (if encountered) will be measured by our firm.
8. We will process monthly pay requests and hold monthly project progress meetings with

contractor and owner.
9. We will measure all quantities and keep a record of project changes and provide record drawings

to the City once all work is complete.
10. We will be present all testing and make records of the tests (includes Terracon when needed).
11. Once the project is stabilized, we will check with the Land Quality Section for the removal of any

temporary erosion control devices.
12. Upon approval from the Land Quality Section, we will authorize the contractor to remove

temporary devices and perform touch up grassing as needed.
13. We will inspect the project (when complete) with the City for final approval.
14. Once all contract closeout documents are received from the contractor we will recommend for

release final payment with a warrantee period being established.
15. We will perform an on-site inspection with the City prior to the warrantee period expiring.

Page 115 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 7 

Project Schedule  

City of Graham 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension 

 AWCK/City of Graham Begin Date Completion/Award Date 
Engineering Contract July, 2015 August, 2015 

Design Phase 

Preliminary Eng. Design Meeting Beg. August, 2015 Mid. August, 2015 

Letters to Property Owners (if 
needed) 

Mid. August, 2015 End August, 2015 

Field Data Collection End August, 2015 Mid. September, 2015 

Environmental Survey Mid. September, 2015 End September, 2015 

Engineering Design End September, 2015 End November, 2015 

Easement Mapping (if needed) Beg. November, 2015 Mid. November, 2015 

Easement Acquisition (if needed) Mid. November, 2015 End December, 2015 

Permit Applications and 
Approvals 

Beg. November, 2015 Beg. December, 2015 

Bidding Process Beg. December 2015 End December 2015 

Contract Award Beg. January, 2016 

Construction Phase 

Notice to Proceed Beg. February, 2016 

Shop Drawing Review Mid. February, 2016 End February, 2016 

Construction (approx. 180 days) Beg. February, 2016 End July, 2016 

Project Close Out Beg. August, 2016 Mid. August, 2016 

Page 116 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 8 

b. Experience of Proposed Personnel

Alley, Williams, Carmen and King, Inc. (AWCK) is proposing a project team consisting of 
professional, technical and support personnel from the Burlington Office that will provide a wide 
variety of expertise to complete the project in a timely fashion. The proposed team has worked 
successfully together to complete several similar projects for public clients in the Piedmont Area. 
AWCK is committed to providing a high level of quality work to all its clients. 

Principal In Charge and Project Manager: 

Franz Holt, P.E. will provide Principal Oversight of the project 
team. Franz is the President of the Company, a corporate stockholder 
and one of the Board of Directors. Franz serves as the City Engineer 
for the City of Graham, the Town of Elon, at the Town of 
Swepsonville all in N.C.  He has served as the Project Engineer and 
Manager or Principal in Charge on a variety of street, sidewalk, and 
storm drainage projects in both Alamance and Guilford County.  In 
addition, Franz was involved with the planning and design of Melville Commerce Parkway.  

Principal Oversight: 

Darrell Russell, P.E. will provide Principal Oversight of the project 
team. Darrell is the Chairmen of the Board of Directors and has been 
with AWCK for over 40 years. Darrell has worked on many 
roadway projects throughout Alamance and Guilford County. This 
experience also includes several roadway projects for the City of 
Graham. Darrell was also involved with the planning of Melville 
Commerce Parkway. 

Project Engineer: 

Kyle Smith P.E. will be the Project Engineer during the design and 
construction of the project. Along with being a professional 
engineer, Kyle is a highly qualified construction inspector. Kyle has 
overseen the design and installation of thousands of feet of roadway 
and utility lines and was highly involved in the sanitary sewer, water 
and roadway improvements now serving the NC Commerce Park.  In 
addition, Kyle was the design engineer for Melville Commerce 
Parkway and completed the current functional design for the 
extension. 

EDUCATION:  
BS BAE ENGINEERING 
NORTH CAROLINA STATE  
UNIVERSITY, 2002 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 9 YEARS 

  BUCK ENGINEERING—2 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

NC Professional Engineer—039206 
NCDWQ SWITC—593‐310 
NCDOT Concrete Field Tech—PCT‐7645 
NCDOT ABC Sampling School—ABC‐7645 
NCDOT Borrow Pit Sampling Tech—BPS‐7645 
NCODT Conv. Density Tech—CDT‐7645

EDUCATION:  
BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 
UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA AT 
CHARLOTTE, 1983 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
  AWCK — 32 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
N.C. 15816 

EDUCATION: 
BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 

  NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNUVERSITY, 1972 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 42 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
N.C. 7737 

Page 117 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 9 

Assistant Project Engineer: 

Mark D. Reich, P.E. is a principal owner of AWCK and serves 
as Treasurer for the company.  Mark has been with AWCK since 
1994 and has served as either a Project Manager or Principal in 
Charge on a variety of water, sanitary sewer, street, storm 
drainage and other municipal type projects.  Prior to working with 
AWCK, Mark worked for the City of Burlington Engineering 
Department for 14 years designing, and overseeing the 
construction of many water, sanitary sewer, street, and storm 
drainage projects and served as the administrator of the Erosion 
Control Ordinance. 

Gary R. Parrish, PLS will be responsible for researching 
existing deeds and final plats; researching NCDOT maps and 
acquisitions; and will prepare any necessary easement maps for 
the project. Gary has been with AWCK since 2003 and surveying 
for the past 30 years.  Gary has extensive experience with 
conducting field surveys and preparation of maps for boundary 
surveys, right-of-way maps and easement maps.  

M. Health Williams, PLS is the Burlington Office Survey 
Department Manager and will oversee the surveying activities for 
the project. Heath has been with AWCK since 1996 and has been 
managing the Survey Department for the past 6 years. Heath will 
be in charge of coordinating all the field data collection, base 
mapping, topographic mapping, and construction stakeout needs 
for the project.  

Wally Fox is an engineering technician with AWCK and has been 
with the company since 1989. Wally will assist the Project Team 
by providing computer aided drafting services. Wally has 
provided technical assistance on a variety of public and private 
projects including but not limited to water and sanitary sewer 
projects (including pump stations), roadway projects, 
subdivisions, preparation of preliminary and final site plans for 
commercial, industrial, institutional and residential projects.    

EDUCATION:  
ASSOCIATES DEGREE CIVIL ENGINEERING 
GUILFORD TECHNICAL COMMUNITY  
COLLEGE, 1980 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 25 YEARS 
OTHER PRIVATE FIRMS — 6 YEARS 
CITY OF REIDSVILLE — 3 YEARS 

EDUCATION:  
AAS DEGREE ‐ MECH. DRAFTING TECH 
ALAMANCE CC, 1994 
SURVEYING, GTCC, 2005 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 18 YEARS 

  NANCE & BROWN — 2 YEARS 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 

PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR  
N.C. 4607 

EDUCATION:  
BA ‐Geography 
ELON COLLEGE, 1978 
5 YEARS OF HIGHER EDUCATION 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK — 11 YEARS 
OTHER PRIVATE FIRMS — 15 YEARS 
NCDOT — 8 YEARS 

REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR 
N.C. L‐3526 

EDUCATION:  
BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 

  NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNUVERSITY, 1980 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 20 YEARS 
CITY OF BURLINGTON — 14 YEARS  

REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
N.C. 12634 

Page 118 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 10 

Brent Mills, EI is an engineering intern with AWCK. Brent is a 
recent graduate of North Carolina State University, where he 
received a Bachelor of Science degree in Environmental 
Engineering.  Brent has experience with field inspections and has 
been involved with computer design and drafting for a number of 
engineering projects. Brent will assist the project team by 
providing drafting services and technical assistance while also 
reducing the workflow from other projects on the project team. 

Troy King, P.E., is a recent hire by AWCK and has 10 years of 
experience of progressive Civil Engineering experience. Troy will 
assist the Project Team by providing design services. Since 
joining AWCK, Troy has worked on several municipal projects 
and will assist the project team while also reducing the workflow 
from other projects on the project team. 

Ryan King will assist the Project Engineer during the 
construction observation and inspection services period of the 
project. Ryan has been involved in construction since his 
graduation from NC State University in 2001. Ryan has extensive 
experience with asphalt paving, storm drainage installation, curb 
and gutter installation, and sidewalk construction. Ryan recently 
joined Alley, Williams, Carmen, and King and is completing the 
NCDOT certification process for asphalt and concrete testing and 
inspections. Ryan’s role with AWCK includes street, utility, and 
sidewalk observation. 

EDUCATION:  
  BS CIVIL ENGINEERING 
NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIVERSITY, 2004 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 2 MONTHS 
JACOBS ENGINEERING—3 YEARS 
HADEN‐STANZIALE‐6 YEARS 

REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
NC PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER—035017 

EDUCATION:  
B.S. in Business Management with a Concentration 
in Operations Management NCSU ‐ 2001 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 
AWCK, Inc. 2015‐Present  
JMS Investments, LLC 2011‐2015  
Pure Seal Asphalt Services – 2006‐2010  
Triangle Grading and Paving 2003‐2006  
Don Todd Associates 2001‐2003 
REGISTRATION & CERTIFICATION: 
NCDOT Intro to Asphalt Pavements 

EDUCATION:  
BS ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING 

  NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIVERSITY, 2015 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE: 

AWCK — 2 MONTHS 
OTHER PRIVATE FIRMS (INTERN) — 1 YEAR 
NCDOT (INTERN) — 1 YEAR 

Page 119 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 11 

c. Availability of Proposed Personnel

The project team proposed by Alley, Williams, Carmen and King provides great depth and the 
unique ability to maximize workloads/schedules to make sure the Melville Commerce Parkway 
Extension is completed on time and within budget. 

Organizational Depth 

Page 120 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 12 

Availability of Key Personnel 

Page 121 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 13 

d. Experience and Demonstrated Quality of Performance

North Carolina Department of Transportation & Cities of Graham and 
Mebane —Melville Commerce Parkway Improvements Phase I & II 

Hawfields, North Carolina 

AWCK has worked extensively with the NCDOT and the Cities of Graham and Mebane to 
provide engineering services for the Melville Commerce Parkway in the Hawfields area. 
AWCK’s work included surveying, permitting, master planning, final design, and final easement 
preparation. The project included widening with the addition of turn lanes on Trollingwood Road 
and over 7,200 feet of new roadway and drainage structures. Phase I involved the rough grading 
and drainage improvements along the new roadway while Phase II involved fine grading, paving, 
and shoulder construction along the new roadway and widening, grading, fine grading, paving, 
and shoulder construction along an existing roadway. The project will serve as the primary 
access to a 1,200 acre economic development zone and AWCK was recognized by the Alamance 
County Chamber of Commerce for our contributions to the project. Our work began in July of 
2013. Phase I of the project is now complete and Phase II is anticipated to go out for bids in the 
near future. The estimated cost of the new road is reportedly in the $2.5 million range. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Chuck Edwards – District Engineer - 
NCDOT 
Mr. Frankie Maness – City Manager – City of 
Graham 
Mr. David Cheek – City Manager – City of 
Mebane 

Project Manager: Franz Holt, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Kyle Smith, P.E. 

NCDOT—(336)570-6833 
Graham—(336)570-6700 
Mebane—(919)563-5901 

Page 122 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 14 

City of Burlington—Edgewood Avenue & Shadowbrook Drive Intersection 
Improvements 

Burlington, North Carolina 

City of Burlington staff identified the need for inclusive left turn lanes on Edgewood Avenue at 
the intersection of Shadowbrook Drive.  AWCK provided the City of Burlington with a detailed 
report identifying the impacts of the proposed turn lanes.  The report identified the need for 
right-of-way acquisition, permanent drainage and utility easements, as well as temporary 
construction easements.  In addition, the need for utility relocations, traffic signal improvements 
and retaining walls were identified.  The proposed improvements were summarized with a list of 
adjacent property impacts and a detailed estimate of probable costs. Total project costs were 
$600,000. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Jason Geary 
Civil Engineer  
City of Burlington 

Project Manager: Mark Reich, P.E. 

425 South Lexington Ave.  
Burlington, N.C.  27215  

(336)222-5050 

Completion Date: 2013 

Page 123 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 15 

City of Burlington—South Church Street & Fifth Street Intersection 
Improvements 

Burlington, North Carolina 

City of Burlington staff identified the need for inclusive left turn lanes on South Church Street at 
the intersection of Fifth Street.  AWCK provided the City of Burlington with a detailed report 
identifying the impacts of the proposed turn lanes.  The report identified multiple widening 
options and analyzed the need for right-of-way acquisition, permanent drainage and utility 
easements, as well as temporary construction easements.  In addition, the need for utility 
relocations and signal improvements were identified.  The proposed improvements were 
summarized with a list of adjacent property impacts and a detailed estimate of probable costs. 
Total project costs were $388,600. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Jason Geary 
Civil Engineer 
City of Burlington 

Project Manager: Mark Reich, P.E. 

425 South Lexington Ave. 
Burlington, N.C.  27215 

(336)222-5050 

Completion Date: 2013 

Page 124 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 16 

Town of Kernersville-Piney Grove Road Widening 

Kernersville, North Carolina 

AWCK provided construction drawings and easements drawings for Piney Grove Road widening 
in Kernersville from North Cherry Street to a point 400 feet north of Nelson Street 
(Approximately 1800 LF). Sidewalk plans for Nelson were provided as part of this project as 
well. Sidewalk was also installed along Nelson Street from Piney Grove to the dead end 
(Approximately 1200 LF). AWCK also provided field survey staking and layout during roadway 
construction.  Record drawings were provided by AWCK at project completion. The widening of 
Piney Grove Road project consisted of adding a southbound lane to improve traffic flow from 
Nelson Street to North Cherry Street. AWCK staff worked closely with Kernersville staff to 
establish construction limits and easements for the project.   The project cost was approximately 
$1.4 million. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Dale Frost 
Inspector  
Town of Kernersville 

Project Manager: Mark Reich, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Mark Averette, P.E. 

134 East Main Street 
Kernersville, NC 27284 

 (336)-996-1311 

Completion Date: 2014 

Page 125 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 17 

Town of Walkertown—NC Highway 66 & US 158 Intersection Improvements 

Walkertown, North Carolina 

AWCK is preparing construction drawings, project specifications and bid documents for the 
widening of NC Highway 66 from US 158 to east of Bellaire Circle/Whitehall Village Lane.  
The project consists of widening a two lane ribbon pavement section to provide a three lane curb 
and gutter section with concrete medians, turn lanes and sidewalks to improve traffic and 
pedestrian flow.  In addition, the project consists of installing catch basins and culvert, 
adjustments of existing water utilities, installation of pavement markings, utility relocations, 
preparation of a traffic control and erosion control plans.  The project is being designed in 
accordance with NCDOT requirements and the NCDOT Project Number is U-5506A. The 
preliminary estimated cost is approximately $1.5 million. 

Project Contact: Address / Telephone Number: 
Mr. Scott Snow 
Town Manager  
Town of Walkertown 

Project Manager: Mark Reich, P.E. 
Project Engineer: Troy King, P.E. 

5177 Main Street 
PO Box 39 

Walkertown, NC 27051 
(336)595-4212 

Page 126 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 18 

e. Project References

Alley, Williams, Carmen & King has provided engineering services for roadway 
improvement projects for the following governmental entities in North Carolina: 

NAME CONTACT PERSON TELEPHONE 
City of Graham Frankie Maness, Manager 336-570-6700 
City of Graham Terry Worth, Public Works 

Director 
336-570-6709 

City of Graham Burke Robertson, Street 
Superintendent 

336-570-6709 

City of Mebane David Cheek, Manager 919-563-5901 
City of Burlington Lanny Rhew, P.E., City 

Engineer 
336 222-5130 

Town of Haw River Jeff Earp, Manager 336-578-0784 
Town of Gibsonville Ben Baxley, Manager 336-449-4144 
Town of Rural Hall Frank James, Manager 336-969-6856 
Village of Alamance Ben York, Village Clerk 336-226-0033 
Town of Kernersville Dale Frost, Inspector 336-996-1311 
Town of Yanceyville Brian Collie, Manager 336-694-5431 

NCDOT C.N. Edwards 336-570-6833
City of Mebane Chris Rollins, Assistant 

Manager 
919-563-5901 

Town of Elon Richard White, III , Manager 336-584-3600 
Town of Walkertown Scott Snow, Town Manager 336-595-4212 

Page 127 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 

Appendix 

f. Certificate of Insurance, Business License and NCDOT Certifications

Page 128 of 167



AWCK, Inc. 

Melville Commerce Parkway Extension_final.docx 

g. Standard Contract

To view the sample contract, please click on the icon below. 

GrahamAgreement 
for Engineering-Melvill

Page 129 of 167



City of Graham 
Request for Qualifications 

The City of Graham is soliciting letters of interest and qualifications from consulting engineering 
firms to provide design and construction administrative services for the following projects: 

1. Boyd Creek Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Replacement & Back Creek#2 Sanitary Sewer Lift
Station Upgrade;

2. Melville Commerce Parkway Extension;

3. Phase 1 City of Graham Recreation Complex

General: All firms submitting letters of interest should be qualified to provide the services 
related to the individual project.  Interested firms can submit qualifications for any individual 
project or all.  The City of Graham reserves the right to make a selection based on the best 
interest of the City including, but not limited to the following factors:  

a) A Project Approach that satisfactorily addresses all aspects of the projects  in a way that
meets the unique needs of the City of Graham ;

b) Experience of Proposed Personnel ;

c) Availability of Proposed Personnel to devote adequate time and resources to complete the
projects pursuant to project deadlines;

d) Experience and demonstrated quality of performance;

e) Overall Quality of the Proposal, including effective organization and presentation, as
evidence of the quality of final product that can be expected.

Submission Schedule: Proposals are due to the City by 5:00 p.m., July 21, 2015. Review and
recommendation will be completed by July 24, 2015 with anticipated contract award on August 4, 2015. 
Submissions should be limited to 10 pages for each project and contain a standard contract, excluding 
pricing, for each project.  Electronic submission is preferred via email to: fmaness@cityofgraham.com.  
Other deliveries may be made in person or by carrier to: 

Frankie Maness, City Manager 
PO Drawer 357 (USPS) 
201 S Main St. (physical) 
Graham, NC  27253 

Page 130 of 167

mailto:fmaness@cityofgraham.com


1. Boyd Creek Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Replacement &
Back Creek#2 Sanitary Sewer Lift Station Upgrade 

History/Background 
The City of Graham proposes to replace the 56 year old, 700 gpm Boyd Creek Pump Station with a new 
700 gpm (gallons per minute) Pump Station to serve the needs of the northwestern service area. The 
current pump station is subject to flooding. A new pump station will be more reliable, will reduce the 
frequency of potential flooding and it will also be easier to access and maintain. Building the station on a 
new site on the existing property will allow the existing station to remain in service while the new 
station is being constructed. A new station will also facilitate the installation of a bar screen and a 
screenings compactor. The construction of a new Pump Station adjacent to the existing site is the most 
practical and beneficial solution of the alternatives that were evaluated by the City.  

The existing Boyd Creek Pump Station was constructed in 1959.  The station is positioned in the flood 
plain of Boyd Creek and has experienced flooding in the past. There are two existing sewer mains that 
drain to the station. One is an 8'" main and the other is an 18”·main. Both discharge into a common 
manhole at the station. The sewer main that drains into the wet well is an 18" main. The pump station 
has a 10” cast iron force main which discharges to a gravity sewer line on Hanford Road. The existing 
station is permitted for 2-700 gpm (gallons per minute) pumps that are rated to handle the peak flow. 
The Boyd Creek Station is one of the largest pump stations maintained by the City of Graham. The 
current average daily flow to the station is about 200,000 gallons. The station can handle an average 
daily flow up to 400,000 gallons, with the pump station peak flow rated to 700 gallons per minute 
(GPM). During the project design phase, an evaluation of using 1000 gpm pumps to potentially reduce 
the frequency and severity of overflows due to inflow and infiltration (I & I) is recommended . 

The Back Creek #2 Station Upgrade is included in this project and includes new duplex 200 gpm pumps, 
controls, standby generator, platform and shelter over controls.   

Location 
The existing Boyd Creek Pump Station is located within the City of Graham at the dead end of Ingold 
Drive south of Interstate 40/85 off of' Moore Street Extension. The pump station is bounded by Boyd 
Creek to the northwest.  The access road to the site is on the north/northeast and an AT & T fiber optic 
cable on the south. The pump station is located on the northern corner of a 10.1 acre site owned by the 
City or Graham. The site is accessed from the dead end of Ingold Drive. The drainage area for this station 
is located to the north up to the Downtown area and it is almost fully developed with very minimal 
potential for increased flow to the station.  

The Back Creek #2 Station is located at the easternmost portion of the City, south of Interstate 40/85 at 
1587 Bakatsias Lane.  The site can be accessed directly from Bakatsias Lane.   

Page 131 of 167



Project Completion Deadline 
TBD 

Evaluating Staff Contact Info: 
Victor Quick 
Utilities Director 
336-570-6721 
vquick@cityofgraham.com 

Frankie Maness 
City Manager 
336-570-6700 x113 
fmaness@cityofgraham.com 

Page 132 of 167

mailto:vquick@cityofgraham.com
mailto:fmaness@cityofgraham.com


2. Melville Commerce Parkway Extension 

History/Background 
The project includes the 
construction of 4,425 feet of new 
roadway improvements that begin 
at Governor Scott Farm Road 
(which is currently gravel and is to 
be paved by NCDOT – 20 feet wide) 
and extends east to where it 
connects with the current end of 
Melville Commerce Parkway 
(currently under construction by 
NCDOT).  When completed, this 24 
foot wide paved road will serve as 
the primary connector road for the NC Commerce Park Economic Development Zone (formerly the 
AICDZ).  The Economic Development Zone includes over 30 privately held parcels, the new Wal-Mart 
Perishable Goods Distribution Center Site and the recently announced Lidl distribution center and 
regional headquarters.  All of which will be served by these proposed roadway improvements. 

The City of Graham will be responsible for the right of way acquisition, roadway design and construction 
improvements.  In addition, the Cities of Graham and Mebane will maintain the new roadway 
improvements (within their respective jurisdictions) for a set period of time as required due to funding 
sources.  The City of Graham will also be helped by the City of Mebane and Alamance County as equal 
funding partners.  This local government partnership has made significant economic investment ($10 
million plus) through the installation of public water and sewer, right-of-way purchase for Melville 
Commerce Parkway and the purchase of the Wal-Mart Site. 

Project Completion Deadline 
Project must be completed in 1 year from execution of incentive agreement with Lidl.  Execution of said 
agreement is expected in July of 2015. 

Evaluating Staff Contact Info: 
Nathan Page 
City Planner 
336-570-6700 x135 
npage@cityofgraham.com 
 

Frankie Maness 
City Manager 
336-570-6700 x113 
fmaness@cityofgraham.com 
 

Page 133 of 167

mailto:mwiggins@cityofgraham.com
mailto:fmaness@cityofgraham.com


3. Phase 1 City of Graham Recreation Complex 

History 
The City acquired a 115.6 acre tract of 
property along Jim Minor Road in 2010 
and another 3 acre tract in 2014 for 
the purpose of constructing a park.  
The City received financial assistance 
in the amount of $500,000 from the 
North Carolina Parks and Recreation 
Trust Fund in July of 2011, which 
stipulated that the City begin 
development of the park by July of 
2016.  The grant also requires that the 
land be held in perpetuity as a public 
park.  As such, the City recorded 
restrictive covenants in 2012 to 
perpetually designate the property for 
public recreational use.  

Phase 1 seeks to build passive 
recreation facilities and basic 
infrastructure.  Phase 1 elements 
include: a park entrance, parking lot, 
natural playground, open mall area, fit zone, and shelter with restrooms.  

Location 
The proposed park is located southeast of the city’s primary corporate limits along Jim Minor Road.   

Project Completion Deadline 
Opening of Phase 1 is scheduled for July of 2016. 

Evaluating Staff Contact Info: 
Melody Wiggins 
Recreation and Parks Director 
336-570-6700 x126 
mwiggins@cityofgraham.com 
 

Frankie Maness 
City Manager 
336-570-6700 x113 
fmaness@cityofgraham.com 
 

 

Page 134 of 167

mailto:mwiggins@cityofgraham.com
mailto:fmaness@cityofgraham.com


P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\T‐mobile Staff Report.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  CO‐LOCATION  OF  T‐MOBILE  CELL  PHONE  ANTENAE 

PREPARED  BY:  VICTOR  QUICK  &  FRANKIE  MANESS  

REQUESTED ACTION:

Authorize the City Manager and City Attorney to enter into a site lease agreement with T‐Mobile South, LLC for the 

collocation of telecommunication antennae on top of the City’s 500,000 gallon elevated storage tank. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:       

The City has been working with T‐Mobile to investigate the installation 

of cell phone antennae on top of the City’s elevated storage tank 

located behind Graham Middle School. Engineering assessments have 

been completed and the tank is structurally sound & adequate to 

safely support the planned load. Additionally, the City will require our 

tank maintenance contractor to be involved with the installation to 

ensure there will be no interference with proper maintenance and 

operation of the tank. Collocation is common practice for many 

utilities and will provide an additional revenue stream for the City.  

FISCAL IMPACT:    

The lease agreement with T‐Mobile will generate $27,600 in 

additional revenue annually for the City.  This is equivalent to a 

taxable property of $6,000,000 or the amount of water revenue 

generated from 130 homes.   

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION:    

Approval. The collocation of telecommunication equipment is 

preferred over the construction of additional towers. 

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S): 

I move we authorize the City Manager and City Attorney to enter into 

a site lease agreement with T‐Mobile South, LLC for the collocation of 

telecommunication antennae.  

Page 135 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\T‐mobile Staff Report.docx 

Page 136 of 167



Site Number: 5BU0007E Site Lease – version 6.26.14 
Site Name: City of Graham 
Market: Carolinas 

SITE LEASE AGREEMENT 

This  SITE  LEASE  AGREEMENT  (this  “Agreement”)  is  effective  the  date  of  the  last  signature  on  this 
Agreement  (the  “Effective Date”) by  and between City of Graham,(“Landlord”)  and  T‐Mobile  South  LLC,  a 
Delaware limited liability company “Tenant”).   

Landlord and Tenant agree to the following: 

1. Property Description. Landlord is the owner of the real property located at 398 E McAden Street,
Graham, NC 27253 as further described on Exhibit A   (the “Property”).   The Property  includes the premises 
which are comprised of approximately XXX  square  feet plus any additional portions of  the Property which 
Tenant may  require  for  the  use  and  operation  of  its  facilities  as  generally  described  on  Exhibit  B  (the 
“Premises”). Tenant reserves the right to update the description of the Premises on Exhibit B to reflect any 
modifications or changes.   

2. Option.  Landlord grants to Tenant an option to lease the Premises on the terms and conditions
described  in  this Agreement  (the  “Option”).    The Option  shall  commence on  the  Effective Date  and  shall 
continue  for  a  period of  year  (the  “Option  Period”).    The Option  Period will  be  automatically  extend  for 
successive one (1) year period(s), unless Tenant provides written notice to the Landlord of its election not to 
renew or exercise  its Option.   For each Option Period, Tenant shall pay Landlord one hundred and no/100 
dollars  ($100.00).    Upon  Tenant’s  exercise  of  the  Option,  this  Agreement  will  constitute  a  lease  of  the 
Premises on the terms and conditions described below (the “Lease”).  

3. Landlord  Cooperation.   During  the Option Period  and  Term  (as defined below),  Landlord  shall
cooperate with  Tenant’s due diligence  activities, which  shall  include, but not be  limited  to,  access  to  the 
Property  for  inspections,  testing,  permitting  related  to  the  Permitted  Uses  (as  defined  below).  Landlord 
authorizes  Tenant  to  sign,  file,  submit  and obtain  all  zoning,  land use  and other  applications  for permits, 
licenses  and  approvals  required  for  the  Permitted  Uses  from  all  applicable  governmental  and  quasi‐
governmental  entities  (collectively,  the  “Governmental  Approvals”),  subject  to  City  Councils  legislative 
authority.  .    Landlord’s  cooperation  shall  include  the  prompt  execution  and  delivery  of  any  documents 
necessary to obtain and maintain Government Approvals or utility services. Additionally, Landlord shall not 
take any actions which are in conflict with or interfere with Tenant’s Governmental Approvals. 

4. Antenna Facilities and Permitted Uses.   Tenant  leases the Premises  for  its equipment, personal
property  and  improvements  associated  with  Tenant’s  wireless  communications  business  (the  “Antenna 
Facilities”).  The  Premises may  be  used  for  the  construction,  installation,  operation, maintenance,  repair, 
addition, upgrading, removal or replacement of any and all Antenna Facilities (the “Permitted Uses”) for no 
fee or additional consideration. The Antenna Facilities shall remain the exclusive property of Tenant and shall 
not be considered fixtures.  Tenant, at its expense, may use any and all reasonable means as Tenant deems 
necessary to control, secure or restrict access to the Antenna Facilities. Landlord hereby waives any and all 
lien rights it may have concerning the Antenna Facilities.  If necessary to maintain service, Tenant shall have 
the  right  to  locate  a  cell‐on‐wheels,  or  other  temporary  antenna  facility  on  the  Property.  Landlord  shall 
cooperate with the placement of the temporary facility at a mutually acceptable location. 

Page 137 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 
Market:   Carolinas 

5. Lease Term.

a) The Initial Term of the Lease shall be (5) years commencing on the date of Tenant’s exercise
of  the Option  (the “Commencement Date”), and ending at midnight on  the day  immediately preceding  the 
fifth  (5th) anniversary of  the Commencement Date  (the  “Initial  Term”). The  Initial Term,  together with any 
Renewal Terms and Extended Periods are referred to collectively as the “Term.” 

b) The Initial Term shall automatically renew for ten (10) successive renewal terms of (5) years
each  (each a "Renewal Term"), provided, however, that Tenant may elect not to renew by providing notice 
prior to the expiration of the then current Term.   

c) Upon the expiration of the final Renewal Term, Tenant shall have the right to continue to
occupy  the Premises and  the Term shall automatically extend  for  successive one  (1) year periods  (each, an 
“Extended Period”).  Landlord may terminate the renewal of any Extended Period by delivery of notice at least 
six  (6) months prior  to  the end of  the  then current Extended Period.   Tenant may  terminate any Extended 
Period at any time by delivery of notice to Landlord.  

6. Rent/Other Charges.

a) Upon  the  Commencement Date,  Tenant  shall  pay  Landlord  rent  in  the
amount  of  ($1,800.00)  per month  (the  “Rent”).  Tenant  shall  deliver  Rent  to  Landlord  at  the 
address specified  in Section 15, or by electronic payment. The  first Rent payment shall be due 
within  twenty  (20)  business  days  after  the  Commencement  Date.    Subsequent  Rent  shall  be 
payable by the fifth day of each month thereafter.  

b) The Rent for each successive Renewal Term shall be an amount equal to
percent  (110%) of the Rent  for the  immediately preceding Term. The Rent shall continue to be 
paid on a monthly basis. The Rent  for each Extended Period  shall be an amount equal  to one 
hundred two percent (102%) of the Rent for the immediately preceding Term. 

c) Rent for any partial month shall be prorated on a per day basis, based on
the number of days in the month in question.  Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant regarding 
the  use  of  any  electronic  rent  payment  systems  or  the  provision  of  any  associated 
documentation.  Tenant may condition payment of Rent and any other sums payable under this 
Agreement upon Tenant’s receipt of a duly completed  IRS form W‐9, or similar governmental 
form. 

d) Any charges payable under this Agreement other than Rent shall be billed
by Landlord to Tenant within twelve (12) months from the date the charges were  incurred or 
due; otherwise the charges shall be deemed time‐barred and forever waived and released by 
Landlord. 

7. Interference.  Tenant shall not interfere with the radio frequency communications of Landlord or
any of Landlord’s existing tenants as of the Effective Date.  After the Effective Date, Landlord shall not install, 
or permit any third party to install, any equipment or structures that interfere with or restrict the operations 
of  Tenant.   Any  such  interference  shall be deemed  a material breach of  this Agreement by  Landlord  and 
Landlord shall remove the cause of the interference within forty‐eight (48) hours of notice. Tenant shall have 
the right to exercise all legal and equitable rights and remedies to end the interference.   

Page 138 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 
Market:   Carolinas 

8. Utility Services.

a) Tenant shall have the right to connect to, maintain, repair, upgrade, remove or
replace    existing  utility  related  equipment  and  shall  have  the  right  to  install  new  utility  related 
equipment  to  service  its  Antenna  Facilities,  or  cell‐on‐wheels  on,  or  serving  the  Property 
(collectively, the “Utility Facilities”).  

b) Tenant  shall be  responsible  for all utilities  charges  for electricity, or any other
utility service used by Tenant on  the Premises.   Tenant may  install separate meters  for Tenant’s 
utility usage.    If Tenant does not  install  separate meter, Tenant  shall pay  Landlord  two hundred 
($200.00) per month for its utility usage.  

9. Access and Easements.

a) Landlord shall furnish, at no additional charge to Tenant, unimpeded and secure
access  to  the  Premises  on  a  24‐hours‐a‐day,  7‐days‐a‐week  basis  to  Tenant  and  Tenant’s 
employees, agents, contractors and other designees.   

b) Landlord  grants  Tenant,  at  no  additional Rent  or  charge,  easements  on,  over,
under  and  across  the  Property  for  ingress,  egress,  communications,  power  and  other  utilities, 
construction,  demolition  and  access  to  the  Premises  and  any  Utility  Facilities  (collectively,  the 
“Easements”).  Landlord  shall  not  unreasonably  modify,  interrupt  or  interfere  with  any 
communications, electricity, or other utility equipment and easements serving the Property, except 
with the prior written approval of Tenant.  

10. Termination.    Tenant may  terminate  this Agreement without  further  liability,  upon  thirty  (30)
days prior written notice to Landlord,  for any of the  following reasons:  (i) changes  in  local or state  laws or 
regulations which  adversely  affect  Tenant’s  ability  to  operate;  (ii)  a  Federal  Communications  Commission 
(“FCC”) ruling or regulation that is beyond the control of Tenant;  (iii) technical or economic reasons; or (iv) if 
Tenant is unable to obtain any Governmental Approval required for the construction or operation of Tenant’s 
Antenna  Facilities.    Upon  ninety  (90)  days  prior  written  notice  to  Landlord,  Tenant may  terminate  this 
Agreement for any or no reason. 

11. Casualty and Condemnation.  If the Premises or Antenna Facilities are damaged or destroyed by
wind, fire or other casualty, Tenant shall be entitled to negotiate compromise, receive and retain all proceeds 
of Tenant’s insurance and other claims and Tenant may terminate the Lease by written notice to Landlord.  If 
the Premises, any Easements or Antenna Facilities are taken or condemned by power of eminent domain or 
other governmental taking, then: (a) Tenant shall be entitled to negotiate, compromise, receive and retain all 
awards  attributable  to  (i)  the  Antenna  Facilities,  (ii)  Tenant’s  leasehold  interest  in  the  Property,  (iii)  any 
moving or  relocation benefit  available  to  Tenant  and  (iv)  any other  award  available  to  Tenant  that  is not 
attributable to Landlord’s title to or interest in the Property.  If the Antenna Facilities are not operational due 
to casualty or condemnation, Tenant shall have the right to abate the Rent for that period time. In addition, 
Tenant may terminate the Lease by written notice to Landlord.  

12. Default and Right to Cure.  A party shall be deemed in default under this Agreement if it fails to
make any payment, or to perform any obligation required of  it within any applicable time period specified 
and does not commence curing  such breach within  thirty  (30) days after  receipt of written notice of  such 

Page 139 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 
Market:   Carolinas 

breach from the non‐defaulting party (“Default”).  This Agreement, or Tenant’s rights of possession shall not 
be  terminated due  to any Tenant Default unless:  (a)  the Default  is material;  (b)  Landlord  shall have given 
Tenant not  less than thirty  (30) days prior written notice, after the expiration of the cure period described 
above, and Tenant fails to cure or commence the cure of such Default within the second thirty (30) day notice 
period. (c) Landlord lacks any other adequate legal or equitable right or remedy. 

13. Taxes.  Tenant shall pay when due all taxes and assessments for  any personal property tax which
is  solely  and directly  attributable  to  the presence or  installation of  Tenant’s Antenna  Facilities during  the 
Term.    Tenant  shall have  the  right  to  challenge  any  tax or  assessment  and  Landlord  shall  cooperate with 
Tenant regarding such challenge.  

14. Insurance and Subrogation and Indemnification.

a) During  the  Term,  Tenant  and  Landlord  each  shall maintain  Commercial General  Liability
Insurance in amounts of One Million and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and Two Million and 
no/100  Dollars  ($2,000,000.00)  aggregate.  Each  party  may  satisfy  this  requirement  by  obtaining  the 
appropriate endorsement to any master insurance policy such party may maintain. Tenant and Landlord shall 
each maintain “all  risk” or “special causes of  loss” property  insurance on a  replacement cost basis  for  their 
respectively owned real or personal property. 

b) Landlord and Tenant hereby mutually release each other  (and their successors or assigns)
from  liability  and waive  all  right  of  recovery  against  the  other  for  any  loss  or  damage  covered  by  their 
respective first party property  insurance policies for all perils  insured thereunder.  In the event of an  insured 
loss, neither party’s insurance company shall have a subrogated claim against the other party. 

c) Subject to the property insurance waivers set forth in the preceding subsection (b),  Tenant
agrees  to  indemnify  and  hold  harmless  Landlord    from  and  against  any  and  all  administrative  and  judicial 
actions and rulings, claims, causes of action, demands and  liabilities,  including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to 
the  extent  caused  by  or  arising  out  of:  (i)  any  negligent  acts  or  omissions  or  willful misconduct  in  the 
operations or activities on the Property by Tenant or its employees, agents, contractors, licensees, tenants or 
subtenants, (ii) any spill or other release of any Hazardous Substances (as defined below) on the Property by 
Tenant  or  its  employees,  agents,  contractors,  licensees,  tenants  or  subtenants,  or  (iii)  any  breach  of  any 
obligation of  Tenant under  this Agreement.  The  indemnifying party’s obligations under  this  subsection  are 
contingent upon its receiving prompt written notice of any event giving rise to an obligation to indemnify the 
other party and  the  indemnified party’s  granting  it  the  right  to  control  the defense  and  settlement of  the 
same. 

d) Tenant  shall  not  be  responsible  or  liable  to  Landlord  or  any  third  party  for  any  claims,
damages, costs, expenses,  including  liens,  fines, penalties or other enforcement actions, attributable  to any 
pre‐existing  violations  of  applicable  laws,  codes,  ordinances  or  other  regulations  relating  to  the  Property 
(collectively, “Pre‐Existing Violations”).  To the extent Tenant is or may be required to cure such Pre‐Existing 
Violations  in order  to obtain any Governmental Approvals  for  its Permitted Uses of  the Premises, however, 
Tenant shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure such Pre‐Existing Violations and deduct the curative 
costs from Rent payable under this Agreement.  

e) The provisions of subsections (b) and (c) above shall survive the expiration or termination of
this Agreement. 

Page 140 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 
Market:   Carolinas 

15. Notices.   All notices, requests, demands and other communications shall be  in writing and shall
be effective three (3) business days after deposit in the U.S. mail, certified, return receipt requested or upon 
receipt  if personally delivered or sent via a nationally recognized courier  to  the addresses set  forth below. 
Landlord or Tenant may from time to time designate any other address for this purpose by providing written 
notice to the other party. 

If to Tenant, to: 
T-Mobile USA, Inc. 
12920 SE 38th Street 
Bellevue, WA  98006 
Attn: Lease Compliance/5BU0007E

If to Landlord, to: 
City of Graham 

16. Quiet Enjoyment, Title and Authority.   Landlord covenants and warrants that:  (a) Landlord has
full  right, power and authority  to execute and perform  this Agreement and  to grant Tenant  the  leasehold 
interest and Easements contemplated under this Agreement; (b) Landlord has good and unencumbered title 
to the Property, free and clear of any liens or Mortgages (defined below)  which shall interfere with Tenant’s 
Lease or any rights to or use of the Premises; (c) the execution and performance of this Agreement shall not 
violate  any  laws,  ordinances,  covenants,  or  the  provisions  of  any Mortgage,  lease,  or  other  agreement 
binding on Landlord;  (d) Tenant’s use and quiet enjoyment of  the Premises shall not be disturbed; and  (e) 
Landlord shall be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for maintaining all portions of the Property in good 
order and condition and  in compliance with all applicable  laws,  including without  limitation,  the  roof, any 
support structure owned by Landlord, HVAC, plumbing, elevators, landscaping and common areas. 

17. Environmental Laws.   Landlord and Tenant shall comply with all federal, state and  local  laws  in
connection with  any  substances  brought  onto  the  Property  that  are  identified  by  any  law,  ordinance  or 
regulation as hazardous, toxic or dangerous (collectively, the “Hazardous Substances”). Tenant agrees to be 
responsible for all losses or damage caused by any Hazardous Substances that it may bring onto the Property 
and will indemnify Landlord for all such losses or damages. Landlord agrees to be responsible for all losses or 
damage caused by any Hazardous Substances on or entering  the Property, except  those brought onto  the 
Property  by  Tenant,  and will  indemnify  Tenant  for  all  such  losses  or  damages  including  the  cost  of  any 
investigation or remediation, or other actions required to comply with applicable  law.   Landlord represents 
that it has no actual knowledge of any Hazardous Substances on the Property.  

18. Assignment.

a) Tenant shall have the right to assign, sublease or otherwise transfer this Agreement, upon
written notice to Landlord. Tenant shall be relieved of all liabilities and obligations and Landlord shall look 
solely to the transferee for performance under this Agreement. Upon receipt of a written request from 
Tenant, Landlord shall promptly execute an estoppel certificate.  

b) Landlord  shall  have  the  right  to  assign  and  transfer  this Agreement  only  to  a  successor
owner of the Property.  Only upon Tenant’s receipt of written verification of a sale, or transfer of the Property 
shall Landlord be relieved of all liabilities and obligations and Tenant shall look solely to the new landlord for 
performance  under  this  Agreement.  Landlord  shall  not  attempt  to  assign,  or  otherwise  transfer  this 
Agreement separate from a transfer of ownership of the Property (the “Severance Transaction”), without the 

Page 141 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 
Market:   Carolinas 

prior written consent of Tenant, which consent may be withheld or conditioned in Tenant’s sole discretion.  If 
Tenant consents to a Severance Transaction, Landlord and  its successors and assigns shall remain jointly and 
severally responsible for the performance of all duties and obligations of the Landlord under this Agreement. 

19. Relocation.   Landlord must provide Tenant at  least six (6) months written notice of any repairs,
maintenance or other work (the “Work”) during the Term of the Lease which would require the relocation of 
the  Antenna  Facilities.    Landlord  agrees  that  the Work will  not  interfere with  or  alter  the  quality  of  the 
services  provided  by  the  Antenna  Facilities.  Landlord will  reimburse  Tenant  for  all  expenses  incurred  by 
Tenant required to accommodate the Work. 

20. Marking  and  Lighting  Requirements.  If  any  tower  or  other  support  structure  for  Tenant’s
Antenna  Facilities  is  owned  by  Landlord,  Landlord  acknowledges  that  Landlord  shall  be  responsible  for 
compliance with all marking and  lighting requirements of the Federal Aviation Administration and the FCC. 
Landlord shall  indemnify and hold Tenant harmless  from any  fines or other  liabilities caused by Landlord's 
failure to comply with these requirements. 

21. Miscellaneous.

a) The prevailing party in any litigation or other legal proceedings arising under this Agreement
(including any appeals and any insolvency actions) shall be entitled to reimbursement from the non‐prevailing 
party for reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses. 

b) This Agreement  constitutes  the  entire  agreement  and  understanding  of  the  parties,  and
supersedes all offers, negotiations and other agreements with  respect  to  the  subject matter and Property.  
Any amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and executed by both parties. 

c) Landlord  agrees  to  cooperate  with  Tenant  in  executing  any  documents  which  Tenant
deems necessary  to  insure, protect Tenant’s  rights  in, or use of,  the Premises.   Landlord shall   execute and 
deliver:  (i) a Memorandum of Lease in substantially the form attached as Exhibit C; and (ii) if the Property is 
encumbered  by  a  deed, mortgage  or  other  security  interest  (each,  a  “Mortgage”),  a  subordination,  non‐
disturbance and attornment agreement using Tenant’s form. 

d) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the  laws of the state or territory in
which the Property is located, without regard to the principles of conflicts of law. 

e) If any  term of  this Agreement  is  found  to be void or  invalid,  the  remaining  terms of  this
Agreement  shall  continue  in  full  force  and  effect.  Any  questions  of  particular  interpretation  shall  be 
interpreted as to their fair meaning. 

f) Each party hereby represents and warrants to the other that this Agreement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered by  it, and that no consent or approval  is required by any  lender or other 
person or entity in connection with the execution or performance of this Agreement. 

g) If  either  party  is  represented  by  any  broker  or  any  other  leasing  agent,  such  party  is
responsible for all commission fee or other payment to such agent. 

h) This  Agreement  and  the  interests  granted  herein  shall  run  with  the  land,  and  shall  be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their respective successors, personal representatives and 

Page 142 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 
Market:   Carolinas 

assigns. 

i) This Agreement may be executed  in any number of  counterparts, each of which  shall be
deemed  an  original,  but  all  of  which  together  shall  constitute  a  single  instrument.  Signed  facsimile  and 
electronic copies of this Agreement shall legally bind the Parties to the same extent as original documents.  

LANDLORD: City of Graham 

By:              __________ 

Printed Name:       ____ ______ 

Title: ____________________________________ 

Date:             __________ 

TENANT:  T‐Mobile South LLC 

By: __  _____ 

Printed Name: Todd Wheeler 

Title: Area Director, Network Eng & Operations 

Date:   __________    __________ 

___    __________   
      T‐Mobile Legal Approval 

Page 143 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  A‐1  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

EXHIBIT A 
Legal Description 

The Property is legally described as follows: 

Legal Description:  

Parcel Number:  
Address of the parcel: 398 E McAden Street, Graham, NC 27253 

Page 144 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E B‐1  Site Lease – version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

EXHIBIT B 

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the location of the Premises is generally described and depicted 
as shown below or in the immediately following attachment(s). 

Page 145 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  C‐1  Site Lease ‐ version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

EXHIBIT C 

Memorandum 
of 

Lease 

After Recording, Mail To: 

APN: 
Loan No. 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE 

A Site Lease Agreement (the “Agreement”) by and between City of Graham (“Landlord”) and T‐Mobile 
South  LLC,  a Delaware  limited  liability  company  (“Tenant”) was made  regarding  a portion of  the  following 
property (as more particularly described in the Agreement, the “Premises”): 

See Attached Exhibit A incorporated herein for all purposes. 

Without  limiting the terms and conditions of the Agreement, Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge the 
following: 

1. Capitalized  terms used, but not otherwise defined herein,  shall have  the meanings ascribed  to  such
terms in the Agreement.

2. Pursuant  to  the  Agreement  Landlord  has  granted  Tenant  an  option  to  lease  the  Premises  (the
“Option”) on  the  terms and conditions described  in  this Agreement  for an  initial  term of  one (1) year
commencing on the Effective Date, which term may be extended by Tenant for additional one (1) year
Options.

3. Provided  that  the Option has been exercised by Tenant,  the Agreement shall constitute a  lease  (the
“Lease”),  the  term of which  shall  initially be  for  five  (5) years and will commence on  the date upon
which Tenant exercises its Option (the “Commencement Date”).

4. Tenant shall have the right to extend the Lease for (10) additional and successive five‐year terms.

5. This memorandum is not a complete summary of the Lease.  It is being executed and recorded solely to
give public record notice of the existence of the Option and the Lease with respect to the Premises.
Provisions in this memorandum shall not be used in interpreting the Lease provisions and in the event
of  conflict  between  this memorandum  and  the  said  unrecorded  Lease,  the  unrecorded  Lease  shall
control.

6. This memorandum may be signed  in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original,
with the same effect as if the signatures thereto were upon the same instrument.

Page 146 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  C‐2  Site Lease – South Version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have respectively executed this memorandum effective as 
of the date of the last party to sign. 

LANDLORD: City of Graham 

By:   __________ 

Printed Name:   ____ ______ 

Title:   __________ 

Date:   __________ 

TENANT:  T‐Mobile South LLC 

By: __  _____ 

Printed Name: Todd Wheeler 

Title: Area Director, Network Eng & Operations 

Date:   __________    __________ 

Page 147 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  C‐3  Site Lease – South Version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

 [Notary block for Landlord] 

[Landlord Notary block for a Corporation, Partnership ,or Limited Liability Company] 

STATE OF ____________________  ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF __________________  ) 

This  instrument  was  acknowledged  before  me  on  ________________________  by 
____________________________,  [title]  ___________________________  of 
____________________________  a  ___________________________  [type  of  entity],  on  behalf  of  said 
______________________ [name of entity]. 

Dated:  ________________________ 

Notary Public 
Print Name  
My commission expires 

(Use this space for notary stamp/seal) 

[Landlord Notary block for an Individual] 

STATE OF __________________  ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ________________  ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on __________ by ________________________  

Dated:  ________________________ 

Page 148 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  C‐4  Site Lease – South Version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

Notary Public 
Print Name  
My commission expires 

(Use this space for notary stamp/seal) 

[Notary block for Tenant] 

STATE OF ____________________  ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF __________________  ) 

I  certify  that  I  know  or  have  satisfactory  evidence  that  Todd Wheeler  is  the  person who  appeared 
before  me,  and  said  person  acknowledged  that  he  signed  this  instrument,  on  oath  stated  that  he  was 
authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the Area Director, Network Eng & Operations of 
T‐Mobile South LLC, a Delaware limited liability company to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the 
uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 

Dated:  ________________________ 

Notary Public 
Print Name  
My commission expires 

(Use this space for notary stamp/seal) 

Page 149 of 167



Site Number:   5BU0007E  C‐5  Site Lease – South Version 6.26.14 

Site Name:  City of Graham 

Market:   Carolinas 

Memorandum of Lease ‐ Exhibit A 
Legal Description 

The Property is legally described as follows: 

Legal Description:  

Parcel Number:  

Address of the parcel: 398 E McAden Street, Graham, NC 27253 

Page 150 of 167



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2015\08‐04‐2015\Street Sweeper Piggyback\Staff Report street sweeper piggyback.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  PIGGYBACK CONTRACT FOR  STREET  SWEEPER 

PREPARED  BY:  FRANKIE  MANESS,  CITY  MANAGER  

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Award piggyback contract to Amick Equipment Company for a Tymco 600 street sweeper. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The General Statutes of North Carolina allow local governments 

to enter into contracts with vendors who have in the past 12 

months been awarded a contract by any arm of state or local 

government that was bid under G.S. 143‐129 (g) (3), if the vendor 

is willing to extend the same or more favorable price to the state 

or local government.  This statute is commonly known as the 

“piggybacking” statute.  The City of Clinton, SC received bids on 

June 18, 2015 for the purchase of a regenerative air street 

sweeper and awarded a contract to Amick Equipment Company 

for a Tymco 600 street sweeper.  The City of Graham has 

contacted Amick Equipment and they have agreed to honor that 

same deal for the City of Graham.   

The City’s Street Department evaluated each of the sweepers 

indicated in the bid tab (see attached).  Like Clinton, SC, the Tymco sweeper best met the expectations of the City. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The cost per the bid package is $210,580.  The FY 2015‐2016 budget includes an appropriation of $242,000 for the purchase 

of a street sweeper. 

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval. 

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S): 

I move we award the contract to Amick Equipment Company for a Tymco 600 street sweeper in the amount of $210,580.   

 Example model 600 

Page 151 of 167



Page 152 of 167



Page 153 of 167



Page 154 of 167



Page 155 of 167



Page 156 of 167



Page 157 of 167



Page 158 of 167



Page 159 of 167



Page 160 of 167



Page 161 of 167



Page 162 of 167



Page 163 of 167



Page 164 of 167



Page 165 of 167



Page 166 of 167



Page 167 of 167


	08-04-2015 Agenda Regular Session
	1. Consent Agenda
	07-07-2015 Regular Session Minutes
	Tax Releases
	Boards & Commissions Appointments

	2. Requests and Petitions of Citizens
	Graham Area Business Association to Discuss Purchase of Holiday Decorations
	Public Hearing: Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation on and Adjacent to 401 Longdale Drive
	Public Hearing: Petition for Designation of Historic Landmark for Oneida Mills Property

	3. Approve Engineering Contracts
	Boyd Creek Pump Station
	Project Quarter Roadway

	4. Lease Agreement with T-Mobile
	5. Approve Piggyback Contract for Regenerative Air Street Sweeper
	6. Pet Adoption and Welfare Society (PAWS)
	Appoint Council Member to Serve on the Steering Committee

	7. Issues Not Included on Tonight's Agenda




